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£32.4m

Net assets

2020: £24m

£4.0m

Prolilt afier tax
2020: CO.8m

%7%

Nenvork of companies revenue growth
2020: 18

Oour network of companies' delivered
aggregale year-over-year revenue growth
ol 474 (2020: 18%)

Qur network of companiesincreased
employee numbers in aggregate by 35%
10 132 (31 December 2020: 106G) and revenue
per employee increased by 25%.

(2020: 31% and 24% increases respectively)
Additional capital raised during the year
of £4m (betfore expenses) with £2.5m

of this injected in 202t into our network

ol companies o support their value
enhancing fundraises

9.2p

Net assel value (NAV) per share
2020: 7.3p

1.35p

Basic Earnings per share
2020: 0.130p

£2.9m

Funds reinvesied
2020: £2m

132

2020: 106

Wyld Networks value more than doubled
from £am at 31 December 2020 (0 £8.7m
at 31 December 2021 following a successtul
IPQ on the Nasdaq First North Growth
Markel in Stockholim

Further validation of business model
through a net £6.2m fair value uplift
across four companies, £4.7m achieved
for Wyld Networks, and the remainder
from Device Authority. Konektio and
Talking Medicines

1 OQur "petwork of companics” or *our companivs’: Deviee Authority Limited. Wald Networks AR InVMA Limited (rading as Konektio), FVYRVS
Limtited (irading as Fundamental¥ Ry and Talking Medicines Limited. which are companivs that Tern has interests i, as further deseribed inthe

section headed The Tern Community and as detailed innote 1.

Network of companies ¢mployvee nos,



Al Sisto, CEO

A successtul vear with improved results
delivered across all linancial indicators
Net asset growh of 35% and a 26%
increase in net asset per share

Prolit belore tax increased hy 25%

Basic earnings per share (EPS) increased
by 350% in 2021 and the Company reporied
positive retained reserves tor the

first time
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“1 believe 2021 was
your Company's mosl
successiul year 1@ date”




Chairman’s Statement

Adding expertise
and value (o business

For the year ended 3! December 2021

I believe 2021 was your Company's most
successful year to date. Each one of the
companies in our network has made
substantial and demonstrable progress
during the vear, despite the continuing
challenges of the global COVID-19 pandemic,
both in terms of revenue growth and in value.

The majority of the companies in our network attracted additional
support and investment from independent third parties this year after
they conducted thoreugh reviews, demonstrating ongoing confidence
in their business models and future prospects. Third parties, in
addition to Tern, provided additional resources to accelerate the
development of new products and expand the base of satisfied users
which led to increased Monthly Recurring Revenue (MRR).

1 would like to take this opportunity 10 thank Al Sisto and the
Tern executives for their hard work over the year. [t is through their
extraordinary efforts that we have achieved such excellent results. §
would also like to note my appreciation for the support of our other
non-executive director, Alan Howarth, who always adds sound advice
based on his considerable business and financial experience.

Our philosophy is to add expertise and value to exceptional
carly-stage technology businesses in the key growth areas of [nternet
of Things (10T), Artificial Imelligence (Al} and Data Science, but
in deing so we have always made sure that we add much more than
Jjust money. One of our team serves as a director on the board of each
of our companies and we strive collectively to actively help each
company with their strategic challenges, whether it is sourcing key
management skills, identification of target markets, or establishing
new key sates offices.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, each of our companies have
been required to substantially change the way they operate. In many
cases this has involved staff working remotely and they have been
forced to make, not only creative use of videoconferencing, but also
good use of other technology lools to ensure that their teamwork
remains effective.

In these circumstances exira efforts have been required to
ensure that ‘esprit de corps’ atlitudes are maintained among
teams. Fortunately, much technology development can be achieved
effectively through remote working and productivity has generally
been maintained.

Tern has also gathered the CEQs all of the companies in our
network in regular themed joint videoconferencing calls to report
successes and challenges, As a result, one of our companies frequently
offers help and support to another, and key lessons are learned and
shared creating a force multiplier effect,

We have also ¢stablished a separate ESG (Environmental, Social,
and Governance) committec among the companies in our network in
which each of these businesses can share their plans and collective
conscientiousness for social and environmental factors. We aim to
build metrics by which in future cor ESG ‘score’ can be measured,

During 2021 we raised £4m in fresh funding which we have
predominantely utilised to ensure that we continue 1o support our
network of companies as they grow.

[n one particular case, one of our companies, Wyld Networks,
which listed on NASDAQ First North Growth Market in July 2021,
achieved a market value of over E8m and has become a category
leader. In another, our mest recent addition te eur network, Talking
Medicines, has successfully raised external investment, from a
leading life science investor to continue #ts value creation path and
begin its expansion into the US.

As someone who has been involved with early-siage technology
businesses for over 25 years, [ feel that Tern, as a public company,
takes a very honest and straightforward approach to its operations and
our sharcholders are free 1o buy and selt their shares at any time, But |
must point out that as as the companies in Tern’s network are all early-
stage, and although we work hard in conjunction with these companies
and their leadership teams to create substantial value, we are regulated
by market dynamics and have relatively little control over when such
value will be realised.

In short, a stake in Tern should be seen as an ability to participate
in the development of attractive businesses, generally not available to
private invesiors, whose growth, with our guidance, will provide long-
term capital gains.

It is our job to ensure that we work to achieve the strongest return
for your investment, and we assure you that we will continue to make

that our principal goal.
P——

lan Ritchie
CBE, FREng, FRSE
Chatrman

©Teen PLC All Rights Reserved 2022 8
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In the ongoing challenges that have come from the pandemic
Tern succeded in delivering strong results and rewards (o
shareholders. while helping its network of companies not
only navigale dillicuit times, but to aclively strengthen and
expand their commercial reach and opportunities.




CEQO’s Statement

Staying disruptive
during global disruption

For the year ended 31 December 2021

I am pleased to report a record year for Tern,
delivering growth in all key performance
areas during a year of significant disruption
to society, industry and particularly the
technology sector. In a year when the world
continued to stay at home the companies
in Tern's network adapted to meet their
customers’ requirements and delivered
more products and services than ever before.
Performance by our network of companies
. resulted in an increase in our net assets of
35%. an increase in net assets per share of
26% and an increase in basic earnings per
share of 350%.

Aswe adjusted to this ‘new normal’, no one predicted the pandemic’s
far-reaching economic impact, nor how industry would rapidly adopt
technology and digital transformation, A vast proportion of these
transformations were and are being led by the 10T, which has become
a critical slfalégic component in developing new innovative digitally
based solutions and new business opportunities.

We leveraged these wholesale changes of how businesses now
need to operate and actively supported directly, and with our network
of partners, to strengthen our businesses, resulling in uplifts to their
value and in accelerating their Monthly Recurring Revenue (MRR),
which we consider to be a key metric in establishing their market
value in a trade sale or Initial Public Offering (IPQ).

Qur record performance and growth in 2021 is a testament to
our strategy, built on our operational expertise, network of industry
experts here and in the US, and hands on approach. A strategy that
has helped our management teams adapt to the changing requirements
of customers and markets, grow their businesses, secure additional
third-party support and to make Tern the ‘go to [oT company’ for UK
start-ups in healthcare and deep tech industrial loT that are seeking to
become industry leaders on the global stage.

Strategy Update

Tech M&A surged to a staggering US31.1 trillion during 2021, an
increase of 71% compared to 2020 and accounted for 20% of the
US$5.9 trillion in the year's global M& A deal value and where
software deals dominated the 2021 tech M&A landscape’.

We expect the robust pace of deal making to continue in 2022
and beyond. We expect the tech M&A market to stay competitive in
2022, as strategic player continue to accelerate expansion through
transformative M& A and as private equity firms head into the year

with ample dry powder and hundreds of Special Purpose Acquisition
Companies (SPACs) seck possible business combination targets.
As'a result, the strategy of developing early-stage technology
companies has changed to reflect the key market drivers of the
acquirers. Today, all of the companies in our network are on a strong
path, creating product lines that are unique in their solutions and
are consistently developing an accelerated repetitive revenue model,
or MRR to drive their market leadership and value. We believe the

" following to represent the key drivers of value that we work to achieve

with eur network of companies:

B True Saa8 (Seftware as a Service), or Saa8, subscription-
based revenues;

B Demonstrated brand recognition and revenue retention;

| Historical and forward growth that achieves the ‘Rule of
- . 40° trade-off between profitability and growth;

W IoT solutions that drive critical business insights
and action;

' n In-house engineering team with strong employee
. retention; and

B 10T solutions that become an integral part of managing
customers’ businesses

Hence our focus on oblaining year over year increases in MRR,
as well as broader support from additional independent new third
partics to help support them alongside Tern.

Additionally, we believe the process to create these great
businesses requires focus and attention. We expect to continue to
build a network of companies centred around the key components of
the loT ecosystem that are critical to usage in Healthcare (IMoT)} and
Industrial (I10T) such as:

B Connectivity Services
— LoRA, Satellite, Connectivity Management
M End to End Security (Security by Design)
— Device Management, Connectivity Management, Two
Way Control
B Data Analytics and Visualization
— Virtual Reality/Augmented Reality, Digital Twins
B Application Enablement
— Data Curation, Artificial Intelligence, Machine Learning
Leading to Insights

With Tern's collective expertise and our hands on approach
this enables us to deliver, where helpful, the advice and support

1, Refinitiv Reports 2021 Q4 - Global M&A Financial Advizors

>
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CEQ’s Statement

our companies need to assist them to achieve their strategic and
operational goals, whilst not diluting our efforts across an overly
broad set of generalist businesses. We work to provide founders with
the tools we wished we had when we were in their shoes.

As a group of former founders and operators we focus our help
across our companies specifically in four key areas:

B use of capital;

B revenue and go-to market;
B product; and

B talent.

As mentors and advisors, we relentlessly hustle to deliver value in
these four arcas. We give our time liberally, listen intently, and take
action immediately. We have travelled this road many times and have
a deep understanding of the challenges facing founders. Winningisa
mindset. We are as ambitious as our founders and know that winning
requires passion, grit, and both dynamic and orthogonal thinking
that we can deliver from our diverse expertise, broad networks and
experience. Qur common thread is supporting disruptive companies
and teams with strong products in large markets where we can help
accelerate their brand recognition and MRR growth and path to
success quickly. ;

Our Values and Culture

We strongly believe that values and cultire are just as important as
strategy. We seek to partner with ambitious entrepreneurs who want
to tackle big, hard problems in ways most think not possible to create
a better future. In this regard, we believe that integrity, transparency,
humility, and a commitment to excellence are paramount to our
mutual success. Those values underpin a culture that is team-first,
non-hierarchical and meritocratic.

Operations and Financial Performance

Tern's collective operating experience in SaaS Software, Deep Tech,
and Healthcare loT technologies has helped each of the companies in
our network to make substantial progress during 2021, which 1 believe
has significantly increased the value that will ultimately be delivered
for Tern shareholders. Value that can be measured in accelerated
commercial progress, o continued increase in year-over-year MRR
and the willingness of third-party partners 10 join us on

the journey.

We achieved this key operating improvement by working side by
side with the compantes in our network through the global economic
paralysis in the early days of the COIVD-19 pandemic to adjust to the
new normal, resulting in renewed and enhanced commercial traction
and growth.

Keeping a careful eye on our companies’ liquidity and their access
to additional resources when needed, were and are, we believe, the
imperative to preserving shareholder value during econemic shocks,
such as our most recent experience caused by the global pandemic.
We are vigilant and continue to be relentless with our support and
are continuously working to create pathways towards sustainable
multi-year growth that is several multiples over what has already
been achieved. I am pleased to say that with the support of cur
shareholders, Tern was able to support our companies with additional
resources, as required, during these times. In addition, to leverage the
synergies of our network of loT focused companies, we continued our
series of fortnightly CEO round tables discussing the topics relevant
to growing disruptive businesses and how to maximise value creation

in the businesses, for example, by sharing go-to-market strategies and
technologic advancements.

Three successful 2021 examples of the value created for our
shareholders resulting from our vigilance and hands-on approach are
Wyld Networks, InVMA (trading as Konektio) and Device Authority.

Today, Wyld Networks is a virtual satellite network operator that
develops and delivers innovative wireless technology solutions that
enable affordable connectivity for [6T devices and sensors anywhere
in the world, especially for the 85% of the world’s surface where
there are no traditional cellular networks. Starting from humble
beginnings in Brighton and Cambridge, we saw, in the two founders’
ideas and passion, the ability to disrupt access to the Internet.
Securing new commercial partners and helping to form the creation
of a global 10T consortium, they have engaged customers to create
a new market segment with launch partner agreements with end-
users in energy and agriculture with customers such as Chevron and
Bayer. Their relevance is also validated by their consortium partners
which include some of the world’s largest terrestrial LoORaWAN® loT
operators such as American Tower and Senet, with on objective to
offer their existing and new customers the Wyld Connect satellite 1oT
solution to provision for 100% global coverage. Strong performance
by the company has validated our approach and has created value for
our sharcholders, R

Similerly at Konektio we, in collaboration with the founders, saw
the opportunity to synthesise years of experience in designing and
creating control systems as an engineering services business into
a remote sensor/device rho_nitoi'ing"SaaS based application which
is now in the market as AssetMinder®. It is a product that connects
legacy and existing systems and [oT based sensors to provide
contactless data driven insight int}'i their performance and state
of operation. . -

Our commitment to supporting Konektio’s transformation from
a services business to a Saa$ software company using AssetMinder®
as the catalyst is another proof peint in how our network of resources
help founders create new and exciting business models that solve
critical problems in large global markets. Business models that
accelerate value creation through an MRR based metric and that
attract additional partners to help us continue the journey in making
AssetMinder® an industry leading product.

Lastly, and of significant importance was Device Autherity’s
strategic partnership transaction with Venafi, a US$1.15 billion
market cap industry leader, announced on 2 December 2021. This
was the fulfilment of 8 commitment we made previously. We belicve
obtaining an active strategic pariner with solid cybersecurity
credentials and a large presence in the United States will help
catapult Device Authority into North America. Venafi, with its major
investor Thoma Bravo, fulfils this goal. However, in crafting this
strategic transaclion we did not lose sight of our ultimate objective 1o
continue to create and return value to our shareholders.

Helping to build a company creating sustainable value is a
journey that demands courage to take difficult and sometimes
complicated actions to help put our companies on a proper trajectory
for growth that is the critical component to drive value creation for
our shareholders. Our network of companies are now well-funded
and in the best commercial shape since our inception. The Tern team
is fully focused on delivering another year of successful progress. We
are constantly focused on building our companies to their next stage
to maximise the opportunities available in the IoT market.

I fundamentally believe that our network of companies have very
exciting futures ahead of them and 2022 will be a year of further
significant progress.

wwwiermplc.com



“Our network of

companies are

well-funded and in the best
commercial shape
since our inception”

Sustainability and Governance

The excellent performance and results by the Company in 2021 are
testament to the collective efforts of not just the Board, but of every
employee at Tern and at our network of companies.

Since our humble beginnings in 2013, Tern has worked from a
foundation built upon a strong corporate ethic in all its dealings and
always strives 10 act in the best interests of its stakeholders. Proactive
engagement with all stakeholder groups remains fundamentally
important to our Board, We are members of the Quoted Companies
Alhance (QCA) and have adopted their code of conduct and
recommendations for industry best practices as part of our operating
culture, For example, whilst the COVID-19 tockdowns and remote
working imperatives curtailed face-to-face engagement during the
past two years, Tern has been proactive using digital technologics
o communicate such as podcasts, blogs and online Capital Markets
Day events.

During the year we established an Environmental, Social and
Governance {ESG) committee comprised of highly motivated
employees from the companies in our network as many of these
companies are developing technologies which help society, improve
the quality of life, and ultimaiely help reduce carbon emissions. To
ensure a unified mission, the ESG Committee is led by Alan Howarth
and supported by Sarah Payne, our CFO. Leveraging Sarah’s passion
for ESG, and the committee’s broad levels of expertise from the
participants, we are now identifying key metrics to allow our network
of companies 1o contribute positively to society’s needs, minimising
their carbon footprint, driven by good business sense and strong
governance, The commitiee is also chartered to provide Tern with an
ESG checklist for consideration in all new company building activity.

We look forward to reporting further on the committee’s activities
during the year and its work towards making Tern and its network
of companies’ leaders in ESG practices for the mutual benefit of sl
stakeholders and the planet as we strive to become carbon neutral
in 2022.

Qutlook and Summary

Our record financial results succinctly reflect the quality of the
business which we have transformed by using the expertise of our
team and network of resources, We greatly appreciate the continuing
inspiraticn and support of our shareholders and advisers and are
pleased to be delivering on our Key Performance Indicators (KPls)
and independent third-party validation of value creation throughout
our companies.

Digital Transformation is leading the way in the markets we target
and helping 1o create a new economic normality. We believe this
heightened interest in using IoT devices, both new and installed, will
accelerate during 2022. Acceleration that will bolster aggregate MRR
growth across our companies now and for the foreseeable fulure,

2021 was a very pood year with new independent third-party partners
brought into our companies and we expect the continued MRR growth
to drive additional strategic interest this year to help solidify their
market segment teadership.

Having reccived new capital to fund their disruptive ambitions, we
believe we will see significant further growth in employment across
the companies in our network (o aid in the execution of our plans
to expand.

As we are continually evaluating the possibilities for our network
of companies, we are also continuously evaluating additions and or
replacements o support the growth of Tern and to stimulate additional
value creation for our sharcholders, We expeet the Tern team to
review additional opportunities to expand our network of companies
during this year with an objective of securing an interest in at least
one new exciting company to be added 1o the network that will add
new capabilities. talent and the opportunity Lo support our growth
objectives and improve our resulis.

Tern has grown significantly since its modest inception in 2013
via a combination of organic initiatives and shareholder support. We
anticipate that this combined approach will continue during the next
three years along with non-organic initiatives lo continue increasing
the total value of our business and the holdings of our shareholders.
The successful execution of Tern’s strategy by our team, despite the
unceriainties created by the pandemic and government responses, has
materially grown sharcholder value and is o proof peint that the Tern
hands-on model works.

As CEOQ, | am extremely proud to be part of Team Tern and its
culture, which is comprised of outstanding people who care about
cach other, our companies. out stakeholders and, importantly. who
care about our pianct.

1 look forward to updating you, our shareholders throughout
the year (o report on our execution, growing confidence, expanding
ambition, and value creali

Albert Sisto
CEO

D'Fern PLC: All Rights Reserved 2022 12



The Tern

Community

Tern is commiltted (o working with companies that are building the
businesses who will change the future lor the better.




Device Authority

Device Authorily Limited ("DA™ or "Device Authority™)
Holding: 53.8%
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Device Authority is a global leader in Identity Device Authority’s KeyScaler™ platform provides zero touch
and Access Management (l AM) for the IoT: prow?lon]m.ig_ :nd_compl:iz a|uto:nate[d llﬁf:::c;]t.: Tﬂn::gen;en; for l
. . . securing IoT devices and data at scale, with frictionless deploymen
focused on.lhe autf)mouve, medical device across device provisioning, authentication, credential management,
(IOMT) and industrial (10T) sectors. pelicy based end-to-end data security/encryption and secure OTA
(Over the Air) and HSM (Hordware Security Module) updates,

A KeyScaler™ is system agnostic, and protects their customers’
r.‘ DW'GE glebal loT deployments at the edge, in the cloud and integrating into
1 complex policy-driven requirements, independent of the customers’
> Au l Honl I I proprietary hardware and software environments, KeyScaler™ is
deployed both direct, and through key platform and system integrator
partners such as Microsoft, Wipro, EPS Global/intrinsic ID.

“We’ve been working with Tern since we
started, and they’ve not only helped us in
advancing our technology, but also helped us
gain access to the markets which are key to our

continued commercial success” _
Darron Antill, CEO

®Tern PLC: A Rights Reserved 2022 1




Konektio

INVMA Limited (“honekiio”)
Hoding: 36G.8%

|
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- Konektio is pioneering the next
-generation of Industrial 10T,

- delivering value by connecting
businesses’ people, process,

places and things.
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Konektio helps istdustrial and manufacturing companies prosper by ,
- converging their physical assets with new transformational digital !L_____
insights. Kenektio’s AssetMinder® is a modular, industry 4.0, loT 4’4’

Saa$ platform, using a wide range of analytical tools and Al and
machine learning algorithms to connect up whole factory floors and

processes as well as managing resources inte and out of the factory. .
AssetMinder® assesses the effectiveness and efficiencies of entire @
operations, putting customers in control of their assets and therefore .

direcily impacting productivity, efficiency and business outcomes.

“We’'re so excited about the next
developments of our AssetMinder® tool,
we can’t bring them online fast enough.
We think our future is bright with the

”»”
support of Tern Peter Stephens, CEO

wwwJaernpieeom



FundamentalVR

FVRVS Limited (“FundamentalvR™}
Holding: 26.9%, plus convertible
loan of £530,000

FUNDAMENTALVQ

Providing a solution that is revolutionising
Life Science companies’ approach

to surgery practice and education,
FundamentalVR is making huge strides in
its markets in Europe and the US.

Fundamental VR provides the Company with exposure to the rapidly growing medical
simulation market using low cost open-system IcoT devices. Their proprietary HapticVRTM
platform replaces wet labs and cadaveric training with remote, collaborative training to
accelerate life scicnce product adoption.

“Tern brought a wealth of experience in how to build a
business, and for the last few years we've been doing
exactly that, growing from where we were as a company
of just three people, to where we are today”

Richard Vincent, CEO

© Tern PLC: Al RIgheS teserved 2022 18




Talking Medicines

Medicinesy)

mission to become the gold standard in
patient intelligence by medicine.

Talking Medicines is a social intelligence company designed specifically for the
pharmaceutical industry. By structuring and translating the patient’s voice on social media
into actionable intelligence, it focuses on assisting pharmaceutical companies in delivering a
greater return on investment for marketing end delivering better health outcomes for patients.
Its platform, PatientMetRx, is an artificial intelligence (Al} and natural language processing
(NLP) powered social intelligence service, to provide pharmaceutical companies with insights
con patient experience on a scale and depth not previously possible.

“Tern is a very different type of partner, they are with
you for the long-term and are a real team player as
you build your business” Jo Halliday, CEO

wwawernplecom




Wyld Networks

Wyl Networks AB {(publ) ("Wyld Networks™ or “\Wyld™)
Holding: 58.7%
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JVID NETWORKS

Wyld’s ongoing success
has. meant more and more
customers signing up to
their low-cost, high value
data solution.

Wyld Networks mission is to develop and market innovative solutions
to create global and affordable wireless connectivity for people and
things, from connecting loT devices in hard-to-reach areas with
satellite IoT solutions to connecting smartphones together in mesh
networks without the need for WiFi or 4G.

“Tern brings a wealth of real-world experience in
building companies from start-up through to scale-
up. The collaborative nature of the way we all work is
invaluable in sharing expertise and knowledge that
helps us all grow as businesses” Alastair Williamson, CEO

© Tern PLC: At Righis Reserved 2022 18




Push Technology

-
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P
Push Technology Limited ("Push Technology™ or ™
Hotding: < %

TECHNOLOGY
Looking to accelara?e the .
deployment of real-time

applications, Push is bringing
client products to market, fast.

L

*

Push significantly enhances the ability of organisations to
communiete in eeal-time, This includes direet communication

as well as indirect. for example. by refreshing data displased .
information in read-time rather than when o user explicitly asks for
anupdate. Interactive applications are inlinitely more engaging.
updating in real-1ime as new duta becomes i ariluble. .

.

www,iernpiv.aom




“We are thrilled to be an active
partner with companies that are
l00KINg to deliver real change
through technology”

Al Sisto, CEO
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“Building the next generation of
solutions that will help accelerate
transformation, security and

| sustamablllty in 2022 and beyond”

\/

Building

the businesses <
of the future
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) Tern is a company focusing on large global experience and what each unique business requires. We bring a very
markets that are being disrupted by digital operation'al “hand§-on” aPproach combined wit.h board !evel- exPeriencc
business value needs. Market issues . Eo slrate_glcally guide businesses through the mrmc;ﬁeld of bringing
. . onat . innovation lo the market at speed and scale, successfully.
that reql"re_new thinking and exD?rflse A critical benefit Tern offers is the synergies within the core
to solve the issues created by the digital technologies of our network of companies which creates a “network
transformation of their existing processes. effect” of collaboration. Our partrership businesses do not exist in
sitos, they are part of a thriving collaborative network of like-minded

It’s a strategy that has teamed us with visionary businesses and business businesses, that proactively share experiences, insights and information
leaders, that are seeking to shake up the slatus to the benefit of all.
quo — selving real problems for industries that until now seemed Tern believes technology is the huge driver for commercial
impossible on a global scale — and Tern is as driven as success and societal change when directed and focused properly. Our
these entrepreneurs are, 10 use technology to deliver process, social and support and assistance for our network of companies does not stop at
cultural change, alongside creating significant commercial success. growth and commercial success but to also help them realise their true

We have, and will continue to actively seek out companies at crucial corporate responsibility across every aspect of their operations. So,
stages of their development — often early in their first rapid expansion ESG is not simply a tick-box, but a core part of each company’s DNA.

' phase, bringing our wealth of market knowledge and business building 2021 was a hugely successful year, and we intend to expand Tern's
! experlise to the table at this critical time to maximise the impact on the sirategic impact to transforming businesses.

business and set the stage for rapid growth, o As the world emerges from recent challenging events, Tern will

Based on identifying a clear path to market, coupled with a clearly expand on this success and expertise to cdnlinup building the next |
identified customer value programime, Tern acts as an'aétive strategic generation of solutions that will help accelerate transformation, i !
edvisor, providing structured, regutar mentoring sessions based on our security, and sustainability in 2022 and beyond.. L

Targeting man*lkeﬁs with proven value - | ﬁ

Industrial loT Market worth $106 I billion by 2026, at a CAGR' of 6.7%2 v B

Smart Factory Market worth $13!| 9 bnllion by 2026, at a CAGR of 1.0%?
Internet of things (10T) in Healthcare Market Worth USD 446.52 Billion at 25.9% CAGR by 20284

1 Compound annual growth rate

2 Markets and Markets, Industrial 16T Markét, 2024 ‘ - Y R [
3 Markets and Markets, Smart Factory Mnrket wnh COVID:19 Impact, 2021 © -~ T ‘ T o .
4 Fortune Busmess lnsnghts. 2021 Ll . : . R -
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Our ESG Commitment

’*g{ﬂ& -u :%

,:;ng,a fite LIy -;,

2021 saw strong progress on integrating
ESG throughout our Company. We sel out
to establish core ESG principles during
this year. This has included:

Established an ESG commitiee with representatives lrom the
Board and all our companies meeting regularly throughout
the vear.

Establish route to becoming carbon neutral in 2022, Assessment
of carbon footprint started and plan to fully olisel carbon
emissions during 2022, Continue (o act on this 1o drive a
meaningiul reduction cach year.

Updated our cocke of conduct to rellect ESG at the heart
ol what we do, explaining how we do business ethically
and responsibly.

Provided diversity & inclusion training 1o senior executives at
our companices.

Actively encouraged (he sharing ol great ESG ideas and
intlalives across our companics

continuing 1o maintain high standards ol governance lor
all our companies

Our strategy ensures we onty back companies that have a
positive ESG impact: the real-time insighis driven irom loT make
our communities safer and more connected, and industry more
eHlicient and produclive

Tern:

building better futures

Lo PEC Mg esersed 2022 25




Financial Review

Outpacing our own KPIs

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 was a successful year of growth, o
measured by an improvement across all* :
Tern's KPIs. Following 2020, when attention’
was rightly focused on ensuring all of our
network of companies protected their .
position at a time of extreme uncertainty, 2021
marked a period of growth and progress for
these companies.

As a Company we continued to focus on providing sharcholders with
access to some of the best private Internet of Things (loT) techno[ogy
focused companies in the UK.
During the year, one of these companies successfully listed on the
Nasdagq First North Growth Market, while another two successfully
completed value enbancing fundraises with well-respected pattners.

We further strengthened our balance sheet by raising new equity
capital of £4m in July 2021. This enabled the Company to cpmihue
10 support our network of companies as they focus on develof,ning
and growing their Monthly Recurring Revenue (MRR). '

The value of interests in our network of companies has increased
by 40% from £21.9m as at 31 December 2020 to £30.6m as at 31
December 2021. The valuation includes additional funding of
£2.5m, including alongside new syndicated partners at Device
Authority and Konektio and fair value growth of £6.2m. This
primarily comprises a £4.5m fair value gain for Wyld Networks and
an aggregated £1.7m gain across Device Authority, Konektio and
Talking Medicines.

Net assets increased by 35% to £32.4m as at 31 December 2021
{31 December 2020: £24.0m) and included a strong cash balance of
£2.0m (31 December 2019: £2.1m). There is no debt on the balance
sheet.

During the year, £1.5m of cash was used in company operations,
£2.5m deployed in the existing network of companies and a net
£3.8m raised through the July 2021 equity fundraising.

Income Statement and Statement of
Comprehensive Income L

The Company does not charge high board fees to ensure - -
capital is not deducted at source and is instead reinvested in
the companies in our network to drive value creation. Totat’ -
investment income increased to £6.1m, a £4m incl;e‘ase compared
to 2020. This has been driven primarily by the fair value uplift
for Wyld Networks as well as fair value uplifts across ‘three oflhe
five other companies.

Overheads overall were fairly stable at £1. 7rn in 2021 (2020
£1.5m). This consisted of administration costs of £1.6m and other
expenses of £0.1m. The administration costs included a £0.1m
increase in directors’ fees compared to 2020 which inclu'dlgd
small increases in salary and benefits as well as the retlirn"to full
salary fellowing the six-month reduction in fees in 2020 due to
COVID-19 related management of uncertainty. Other expenses
include costs relating to a share-based payment charge for dptions
issued in 2019 and 2020 and recharged legal costs to the
companies in our network.

Events after the end of the reporting period
impacting 2021 results

On | February 2022, it was announced that Talking Medlcmes
had completed a £1.59m fundraise at an increased valuation. The
Company’s investment in Talking Medicines is now valued at
£1.79m, which included an additional investment of £0.4m by Tern
in this round. This valuation was taken into account in the 2021
valuation of Talking Medicines.

Key performance indicators

The Company’s financial Key Performance Indicators (K Pls) are
focused on increasing net asset value, increasing net asset value
per share and delivering consistent turnover growth from our
network of companies. The Company also monitors non-financial
KPIs, the primary focus being on the increase in employee
numbers and turnover per employee at our network of companies
which is an indicator of growth to support commercial success.
These indicators are menitored closely by the Board and the
details of performance against these are given below.

www.igrnple.com



The return on investments:

Unrealised fair value:

B Wyld Networks Limited: £8.7m valuation (31 December
2020: £4.0m): The equity valuation has increased due to
additional funding provided to the company and a fair value
uplift based on the market capitalisation as at 31 December
2021;

M Device Authority: £14.7m valuation (31 December 2020:
£12.8m): The valuation has increased due to additional
funding provided to the company and a fair value uplift

based on the recent strategic equity fundraise in December
2021,

B Konektio: £2.2m valuation (31 December 2020: £1.2m): The
equity value of Konektio increased due to additional funding
provided to the company and a fair value uplift based on the
recent equity fundraise in December 2021;

Hl FundamentalVR: £3.6m valuation (31 December 2020:
£3m): The valuation has increased due to additional funding
provided to the company via a convertible loan note.
The equity value remains unchanged and is held at fair
value, taking into consideration the current and expected
performance of the company. As part of the valuation in the
current year, the directors have not considered it necessary to
recognise a fair value movement (from the most recent third-
party valuation performed in October 2019);

B Talking Medicines: £1.4m valuation (31 December. 2020:
£0.9m): The investment is held at fair value with the most
recent equity fundraise in January 2022 taken into account.
The additional investment in January 2022 is not included in
the 2021 results; and

W Push Technology: £0.02m valuation (31 December 2020:
£0.03m): The investment is valued at fair value with the price
of the most recent valuation taken into account.

The companies in our network are early-stage businesses in evolving
markets where there is a lack of comparative businesses available on which
to provide a comparable valuation and therefore value has been based on
an assessment of numerous factors which includes the multiples achieved
in comparable markets on recent transactions, and an assessment by the
Board on the strength of our companies sales pipelines and achievability
of their 2022 sales forecast. Wyld Networks is measured as a Level 1
company under [FRS and as such the value is determined by reference to
the appropriate quoted market price at the reporting date.

The net assets of the Company at 31 December 2021 showed strong
growth to £32.4m (2020; £24.0m). The net assct value per ordinary share
as at 31 December 202} also increased to 9.2p
(2020: 7.3p). .

The year-over-year growth in the aggregate revenue of our network of
companies increased by 47% from 2020 to 2021
(18% from 2020 to 2021) which provides an indication of growth
in the overall portfolio.

The Company has non-financial KPis which are also monitored
regularly by the Board. The non-financial K Pls are focused around the
growth in employee numbers in our network of companies. We believe
these factors help serve as leading indicators of the future performance
and our impact on our stakeholders:

Employees in our network of companies increased by 35% from
2020 to 2021 (0% from 2019 to 2020), and this increase was balanced by
an associated increase in revenues such that revenue per employee also
increased by 25% from 2020 10 2021.

Sarah Payne
CFO

Sarah Payne, CFO

“2021 was a
successtul
year of growth,
measured by an
improvement
across all KPIs”

Sarak ﬁ%p&
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Financial Review

Outpacing our own KPIsS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

2021 was a successful year of growth,
measured by an improvement across all
Tern'’s KPIs. Following 2020, when attention
was rightly focused on ensuring all of our
network of companies protected their
position at a time of extreme uncertainty, 2021
marked a period of growth and progress for
these companies.

As a Company we continued to focus on providing shareholders with
access to some of the best private Internet of Things (IoT) techrelogy
focused companies in the UK.

During the year, one of these companies successfully listed on the
Nasdaq First North Growth Market, while another two successfully
completed value enhancing fundraises with well-respected partners.

We further strengthened our batance sheet by raising new equity
capital of £4m in July 2021. This enabled the Company tc continue
to support our network of companies as they focus on developing
and growing their Menthly Recurring Revenue (MRR).

The value of interests in our network of companies has increased
by 40% from £21.9m as at 31 December 2020 to £30.6m as at 3|
December 2021. The valuation includes additional funding of
£2.5m, including alongside new syndicated partners at Device
Authority and Konektio and fair value growth of £6.2m. This
primarily comprises a £4.5m fair value gain for Wyld Networks and
an aggregated £1.7m gain across Device Authority, Konektio and
Talking Medicines.

Net assels increased by 35% to £32.4m as at 31 December 2021
(31 December 2020: £24.0m) and included a strong cash balance of
£2.0m (31 December 2019: £2.1m). There is no debt on the balance
sheet.

During the year, £1.5m of cash was used in ecompany operations,
£2.5m deployed in the existing network of companies and a net
£3.8m raised through the July 2021 equity fundraising.

Income Statement and Statement of
Comprehensive Income

The Company does not charge high boeard fees to ensure
capital is not deducted at source and is instead reinvested in
the companies in our network to drive value creation. Total
investment income increased to £6.1m, a £4m increase compared
to 2020, This has been driven primarily by the fair value uplif
for Wyld Networks as well as fair value uplifis across three of the
five other companies.

Overheads overall were fairly stable a1 £1.7m in 2021 (2020:
£1.5m). This consisted of administration costs of £1.6m and other
expenses of £0.1m. The administration costs included a £0.1m
increase in directors’ fees compared to 2020 which included
small increases in salary and benefits as wetl as the return to full
salary following the six-month reduction in fees in 2020 due to
COVID-19 related managenent of uncertainty. Other expenses
include costs relating to a share-based payment charge for opticns
issued in 2019 and 2020 and recharged legal costs to the
companies in our network.

Events after the end of the reporting period
impacting 2021 results

On |1 February 2022, it was announced that Talking Medicines
had completed a £1.59m fundraise at an increased valuation. The
Company’s investment in Talking Medicines is now valued at
£1.79m, which included an additional investment of £0.4m by Tern
in this round. This valuation was taken into account in the 2021
valuation of Talking Medicines.

Key performance indicators

The Company’s financial Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) are
focused on increasing net asset value, increasing net asset value
per share and delivering consistent Lurnover growth from our
network of companies. The Company also monitors nen-financial
K Pls, the primary focus being on the increase in employee
numbers and turnover per employee at our netwoerk of companies
which is an indicator of growth to support commercial success.
These indicators are monitored closely by the Board and the
details of performance against these are given below.

wawiernplecom



lTern

1P

liver- —- - -

o
7
—
o

(=
S

2

L
ol
-
o

=

N
Y
-
e
-

ses (hat de

rience and passion drive the board 10 help companies build busine

pe

I
-

o
o
2
=
)
X
&
~
c
B
Z
=
z

S8 45 (rue partners




The Tern Board

. lan Ritchie
Chairman

lan was appointed as Chairman of the Company in
June 2017. Ion is also the non-executive Chairman
- of Computer Applications Service and Krotos and
- completed his term of office as the Chairman of
" jomart plc in 2018. He has also been involved with
technology risk finance for over 25 vears,

", He founded OWL in 1984, which pionecred
hypertext application development (a forerunner
", to the world wide web) selling the company
to Panasenic in 1989. Since then, he has been
| + personally involved in over 50 start-up high-tech
"7 . businesses. lan is 2 Fellow of the Rova! Academy of
Engineering, the Royal Seciety of Edinburgh, and
a Fellow and past President of the British Computer
: Society. His TED talk has been viewed over
“Fe . 650,000 times,

. Committee membership:
.+ Member of Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee

Albert Sisto
Chief Executive Officer

Albert is one of the original founders of the
Company and was appointed s CED in September
2016. He chairs the Invesiment Committee and alse
acts as non-executive Chairman and non-executive
director for selected 'mvé;tcé companies. Albert is
a technology industry veteran with more than 25
years of senior executive leve! expertence.

As Chief Operating Officer at RSA Data Security
Inc, the leading security software company, he led
its transformation from a passive patent licensing
operation tp an aggressive, sales-oriented sofiware
company. At RSA he negotinted partnership
agreements with IBM, Intel, Compaq, Cisco

and Nortel, .

Albert was Chairman, Presidént and CEQ of
Pheenix Technologies Limited, the global BIOS
softwore company (NASDQ:PTEC) and Chairman
and CEQ of HiFn (NASDAQ:HIFN). He also served
as 2 Venture Partner for Nauta Capital designer
Transmeta and was involved in spinning off

Siticon Corporation.

Sarah Payne
Chief Financial Officer

Sarnh was appeinted to the Board in September
2015 and is responsible for the Company’s financial
and compliance lunctions os well as being a

member of the [nvestment Committee and acting. + .
as a non-executive director for selected

investee companies.

Sarah qualified with Ernst & Young as a Chartered -
Accountani and spent six years with the firm, ’
joining its corporate finance team for the later years. *
and is now an FCA. She spent six years withthe
BBC, firstly within their corporate commercial

and investment strategy tearmn and then as Head

of Financinl Planning and Analysis. For the

seven years before joining Tern Pic, Saroh was an._
outsourced Finance Director for SME businesses
principaily within high-tech markets. :

Bruce Leith
Business Development Director

. . Bruce was one of the originel founders of the
Company with Albert in 2013. He is 8 member of
the Investment Committee and a non-executive
director for selected investee companies. Bruce
began his career with |BM and has extensive
international sales management and board leve!
experience in the software industry including senior
leve! positions at DataWorks Corporation. London
Bridge Software International and Codestream.

Specialising in delivering high-growth, high profit
results through preduct development, portfolio
repositioning and geographical expansion, Bruce
was involved in the successful sales of o number
of companies including Interactive UK, London
Bridge and Codestream. Bruce is aiso an active
angel investor in several high growth

software businesses.

Maithew Scherba
Investment Director

Matthew joined the Board in March 2020 and is
o member of the Investment Committee and
non-executive director and Chairman for selected
investee companies. He has over 25 yvears of
international executive management experience
covering the full technology lifecycle, focused on
strategy and commercial development, including
investment and NED roles.

He is a life-long entrepreneur with experience
creating, building and scaling early-stage
technology businesses. He has founded, run and
invested in early-stage companies across the
Internet of Things (1oT), including soflware,
hardware, mobile, Artificial Inteligence (Al),
machine learning, and blockchain,

Alan Howarth
Non-Executive Director

Alan was appointed to the Board in November 2015 -
snd acts as a non-executive director for FVRVS,

one of the Company's investee companies. Alan

has extensive experience as 8 Chairman and non- . *
executive director of private and public companies, .,
He is a specialist in building and setling technology
businesses. Previousty, Alan was a partner at Ernst
& Young and is one of the founding partners of the
EY Management Consulting practice in the UK.
For the last eighteen years he has been managing a
porifolio of non-executive appointiments.

Committee membership:
Chair of Audit Committee and Chair of
Remuneration Commiittee
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Director’s Report

Directors and directors’ interests
The directors who held office during the year and their interests in the
Ordinary shares of the Company are as follows:

Oﬂinaw shares at: 31122021 31/12/2020

[Alan Howarth = =1
[BTuce Leith 8,857,233 8,857,233
[SaFan Piyre 100,000 100,000
[1an Rifehic = 1,010,333 1,010;3337]
_lmﬁp‘é‘%ssmbu 716666 71656667
'rgnme'asn'o 10,416,666 10,416,666 ]

bpliér;s gmnted 10 the directors by the Company are disclosed under
the “Report.on Directors Remuneration™.

Signiiicanl sharehotdings
As at 16 March 2022, the company had been notified of the following
Shareholdings of 3% or more of the share capital.

Number of Percentage of

Ordinary Issued Shares

. Shares Held
[XIbert Sisto 10,416,666 3.0% ]

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

.The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report,

. Di_necloré’ Reports and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.

Company. law requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial period. Under that law, the directors have
elected 1o brépare the Company financial statements in accordance
with UK-adopted international accounting standards. Under company
law, the directors must not approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of
afTairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for
that period.

In preparing those financial statements, the directors are
required to:

B select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;

. 1 make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent;

B state whetherinternationalaccountingstandardshave been
followed subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements; and statements; and

@ prepare the financial statments on the going concern
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records
that are sufficient to show and exptain the Company’s transactions and
disclose with reasenable accuracy at any time the financial position of
the Company and enable themn to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible

for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

The directors are also responsible for ensuring that they meet their
responsibilities under the AIM rules format.

The directors are respensible tor the maintenance and integrity of

the corporate and financial information included on the Comany’s
website. Legistation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation
in };therjuristiction.

Section I72 compliance

. Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 format imposes a general duty

on-every director to act in a way they consider, in good faith, would
be most likely to promote the success of the company for the benefit of
its members (shareholders) as a whole. When considering what is most

" likely to promote the success of the company, directors must have
regard to various matters designed to ensure that boards consider the
* broader implications of their decisions, not just for their shareholders
" but for a wider group of stakeholders. These matters include:

"W the tikely consequences of any decision in the long term;
- M the interests of the company’s employees;

B the need to foster the company’s business relationships
with suppliers, customers and others;

-l t_he'need to maintain an effective company selection
- process, including maintaining a strong pipeline of
opportunities and a thorough due diligence process;

M the impact of the company's operations on the community
and the environment;

: B the desirability of the company to maintain a reputation
for high standards of business conduct; and

8 the need to act fairly as between members of the
company.

During the year, the Board considered the impact of COVID-19 on
its stakeholders and continued to take appropriate action to ensure the
mitigation of any impact on the Company. The Board also continued
the round table meetings with our network of companies’ CEOs to
provide both a support network and a forum for strategic discussion,
encouraging the continuing exploitation of synergies thal are already
inherent in the underlying businesses.

The Board determines the strategic objectives and policies of the
Company to best support the delivery of long-term value, providing
overall strategic direction within an appropriate framework of
rewards, incentives and controls. The Board is collectively responsible
for the success of the Company: the executive directors are directly
responsible for running the business operations; and the non-executive
directors are responsible for bringing independent judgement and
scrutiny to decisions taken by the Board. The non-executive directors

wawvwiernpic.eom



Key board decisions

_Stakeholder considerations

The Board considered and approved

a private placing and retail offer via
PrimaryBid to raise in total gross proceeds
of £4m,

—— gmoa - _— " - - — -

The Board considered the ability of the Company to partaer with new businesses and
continue backing our existing companies, supporting long-term sustainable growth of
the business.

Consideration was also given to the increased involvement of PrimaryBid to ensure
shareholders were given the opportunity to participate in this fundraise.

- - . - - -

The Board considered and approved a
further $1.25m of funding into Device
Authority alongside a new investor,
Venafi Inc.

Cansideration was given to the valuation placed on the business and the strategic value of
an industry partner joining the Device Authority board.

Consideration was given to how the strategic value of this fundraise should be
communicated to all stakeholders to explain the value created by the maturing of the
partnership between Device Authority and Venafi.

—— - - . e -

The Board considered and agreed that
regular presentation with CEQs should
be held during the year.

o w——— —

-——

Following the success of the November 2020 online shareholder presentation the Board
apreed that regular presentations involving companies’ CEQs should be planned to ensure
stakehelders heard from each of the companies during the year and had the opportunity to

pose questions.

The Board also requested increased visibility of shareholder questions and concerns
following the Board evaluation process. A standing item was already included on the Board
agenda and a formal feedback reportis now also provided for every Board meeting. I

— R L e C e e

The Board considered the resolutions that
did not pass at the AGM and adjusted the

details of the resolution being put ferward
for approval as a result.

The Board requested detailed feedback on sharcholder sentiment following the AGM. The
Board considered how to reflect this feedback in nn adjusted resolution which was then put
to the general meeting and passed.

must satisfy themselves on the integrity of financial information and
that financial controls and systems of risk management are robust.
Following presentations by the executive directors and a disciplined
process of review and chatlenge by the Board, clear decisions on
policy or strategy are adopted, and the executive directors are fully

Publication of accounts on the company website
Financial statements are published on the Company’s website, The
maintenance and integrity of the website is the responsibility of the
directors. The directors’ responsibility also extends te the financial
slatements contained therein.

empowered to implement those decistons. Examples of stakeholder

considerations in certain key Board decisions during the year are

provided in the above table.

Stakeholder interests and the matters listed above are factored into
all Board discussions and decisions. A more detailed assessment of
stakehelder engagement is included in the Corporate Governance and

Compliance section on pages 33-36.

Disclosure of information

In the case of each person who was a director at the time this report
was approved. so far as that director is aware there is no relevant
available information of which the Company's auditors are unaware;

Independent auditors

The auditor, Nexia Smith & Williamson Audit Limited, was appoinled
on 10 December 2019 in accordance with section 160 (2) of the
Companies Act 2006. [n accordance with S48% (4) of the Companices
Act 2006, a resolution to re-appoint Nexia Smith & Williamson Audit
Limited as auditor will be put to the members at the annual

general meeling.

Signed on behalf ¢

and that director has taken all steps that the director ought to have

taken as a directer to make himself aware of any relevant audit
information and 1o cstablish that the Company’s auditors were aware

of that information.

Sarah Payne
CFO
16 March 2022
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Chairman’s Corporate Governance Statement

Corporate Governance

and Compllance

For the year ended 31 December 2021

As Chalrman it is my responsibility | to ensure

that good standards of corporate governance .

are embraced throughout the Company. As a
Board, we set clear expectations concerning

the Company’s culture, values and behawours .

and promote g00d corporate governance.

The Company’s shares are traded on AIM and the Compél_ny'is '
subject to the UK City Code on Takeovers and Mergers. The Board.
recognises the value and importance of high standards of corporate

governance and applies the Corporate Governance Code 2018 (“the - ~

Code™) published by the Quoted Company Aliliance (QCA). This
report and the Report on Directors’ Remunerstion describe how
the Company applies certain of the provisions of good corporate.
governance. A fuller updated review describing how the Cbmpah‘y
applies the QCA’s ten principles of corporate governance is available
on the Company’s website (www.ternplc.com) under Investor Zone,
The Board believes that the promation of a corporate culture based
on sound ethical values and behaviours is essential to creating a N
workplace environment that allows people to Aourish and that this
will contribute to enhancing shareholder value. The Cbrhpany takes
a zero-tolerance approach to bribéry and corruption and has a clear
anti-bribery policy. The Company seeks te comply with all laws,
regulations and rutes epplicable to its business and to conduct that
bustness in tine with applicable established best practice.

Role of the Board and how it operaies
The Beard has collective responsibility for setting the overall strategy
of the Company, and for promoting the Company’s corporate values
and culture. In discharging its role, the Board is also responsible for
ensuring that appropriate policies, procedures and controls are in
place to support effective risk management and performance against
agreed strategic and financial Key Performance Indicators (K Pls).
The day-to-day management of the Board is the responsibility of
the CEO and the executive directors. The operation of the Board is
documented in o formal schedule of matters reserved for its approval
which ensures appropriate oversight. '
These matters include:

B Approval of the budget and any material change to it;

B Oversight of the Company’s operations, mcludmg
internal control environment;

B Changes made to the Company's capital structure;
| Approvnl of financial results; |

[ Approvul of any cash injections into the network
of companies;

W Approval of regufatory news releases; and.
B Changes to Board structure or composition.

The Board meets at least eleven times per year, with the agendas for
those meetings planned in advance. Standing items are included on
each agenda, including updates from the CEQ and CFO, and on the
performance of the network of companies.

Detailed pacl\s are prepared and circulated in advance ofench
meeting, with reports against the standing items providing updates
on key matters for Board information and discussion, and tracking
performance against the agreed KPls. Board and Committee papers
are distributed to directors in advance of the meetings, and each
meeting is minuted by the Company Secretary. Every director is
aware of their right to have any concerns minuted. '

Composition of the Board

The Company supports the concept of effective Board Ieadersh:p
and control of the Company. The Board is responsible for approving
Company policy and strategy. All directors have access to advice
from the company secretary and independent professionals at the
Company’s expense.

The Board consists of four full-time executive directors and two
non-executive directors. The non-executive directors are independent
of management and any business or other relationship which could
interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement.

[an Ritchie has been Chairman, senior independent director and a
director of the Board for over four years. He has extensive experience
as an independent director of listed companies and technology startup
companies. Alber1 Sisto has been a director of the Board for over eight
years and CEO for over five years. He has over 25 years of experience
at senior executive level and with security soilware companies.

The Board considers that it contains a renge of skills, knowledge
and experience that are appropriate for the business. The Board

wwawiernpicoom



Board Meefings Audit Commiltee  Remuneration Committee

(outof 1) (out of 2) (out of )
{1an Ritchie 1l 2 |
[Albert Sisto il 2 r |
[Sarah Payne il 2! n/a J
fBruce Leith i n/a nfa__|
[Matthew Scherba 1l n/a nfa__|
lAlan Howarth 1] 2 1]

Note 1: Attendance by invitation

also believes the Board members are of sufficient ability to bring
independent judgement on issues of strategy, performance,
resources and standards of conduct, which are vital to the success
of the Company. The Board believes that it operates in an open and
constructive manner and works effectively.

Bespoke lmmmg is offered as required which covers core matters,
such as regulatory requirements, technical training as well as personal
skills development, to continue to develop the skill sets of the
Board members. -

The Board members are listed on page 28.

Independéence of Non-executive Directors
The non-executive chairman and non-executive director are ali
considered by theé Board to be independent of management and not
influenced by any relationship which could interfere with the exercise
of their independent judgement. Notwithstanding this conclusion, {an
Ritchie has an interest in 0.3% of the Company’s issued share capital.
The Board is satisfied that the Chairman and the non-executive
director devote sulficient time to the business, in accordance with the
time commitment requirements set out in their individual letters of
appointment, and they each maintain open communication with the
executive directors between the formal Board meetings.

Appoiniment of Directors

The Board deals with all matters relating to the appointment of
directors including determining the specification, identifying suitable
candidates and selection of the appointee. No separate Nominations
Committee has been formed.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for agreeing the
executive framework and remuneration policy.

The Articles of Association have required each director to seek re-
election after no more than three years in office. Therefore, the Board
considers it inappropriate that non-executive directors be appointed
for a fixed term as recommended by the Code.

Board Meelings

The Board met formally eleven times in 2021. Board meelings are
alse convened throughout the year as required and the Board met
several times in 2021 in addition to the formal meetings to discuss
and approve fund-raising activities for the Company and its network
of companies.

The directors are expected to attend all Board meetings and
Committee meetings on which they sit. The table above shows
directors’ attendance at formal scheduled Board and Committee
meetings during the year.

Board Evaluation

The Board carries out an evaluation of its performance as a whole
annually, taking into account the QCA’s Guidance on Board
Effectiveness. This process is led by the Chairman and the latest
evaluction was carried out in August 2021. In 2021, external input was
sought from various advisors to ensure o robust evaluation process
which 1ncorpomted external viewpoints. As a result of this input a
formali report'is now prepared for every Board meeting summarising
the interaction with individual shareholders during the previous
menth to erishrellhe Board is kept up to date on the key themes that
are being raised and discussed.

Due to [hé size and nature of the company, the effectiveness of
the individual directors is constantly evaluated and therefore it is not
the bélief_c_)_flﬁe Board that a formal process is required. Due to the
delailéd'reviey\; of performance at each Board meeting, any issues
are very quickly apparent and can be dealt with on o timely basis. As
the company grows, the Board will periodically consider whether a
more_ formal annual evaluation process is required in the future. The
Company’s Board, individual director and Committee evaluation
process have not changed materially over the previous years, on the
basis that the Board as a whole consider these evaluation processes to
be appropriate for the Company’s requirements.

‘Board commitiees

The Board has delegated specific responsibilities 1o the Audit and
Remuneration Commitiees,

Audit Commitice
The Audit Committee was established in November 2016 and is
chaired by Atan Howarth. ‘

The Board endeavours to present a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Company’s position and prospects in al) rei)orts
as well as in the information required to be presented by statutory
requirements. All financial information published by the Company is
subject to the approval of the Audit Commitiee.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the Company’s
internal control and risk management systems and reviewing and
monitoring the requirement for an internal audit function and the
effectiveness of the external audit. An internal audit function was set
up in 2021 to undertake controls reviews in the network of companies,
under the direction of the CFQ. The CFQ reports directly to the
Committee on all findings.

The Committee is responsible for maintaining a system of internal
control to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Company’s
assets and for reviewing its effectiveness. Such a system is designed
to manage, but not eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
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“We rely on our stakeholders for
our success in achieving our aim
of becoming the leading company
specialising in I0T in the UK” -

objectives. There are inherent limitations in any control system

and accordingly even the most effective systems can provide only
reasonable, and not absolute assurance agamst material misstatement
or loss.

Activities of the Audit Committee include momtonng the integrity
of the Company’s financial statements and other formal announcements
relating to the Company’s financial performance and reviewing
significant financial reporting judgements contained in them,

The Audit Committee advises the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, considers its
effectiveness and approves its remuneration and terms of engagement.
1t elso reviews and monitors the indgpendenée and objectivity of the
external auditor.

There were two Audit Committee meetmgs in 2021. These were
fully attended by all members.

Remuneration Committee L
The Remuneration Committee was established in November 2016
and is chaired by Alan Howarth. A detailed Remuneration Report is
included on pages 41-42,

There was one Remuneration Commmee meetmg in 2021. This was
futly attended by all members. s

The Audit Committee and Remuneration Commluee do not provide
formal reports but do report to the Board on all recommendations.
Given the size of the Company and the Board’s familiarity with the
business of the Company, it is not considered necessary to provide
formal reports.

External Advisors

The Board seeks advice and guidance as required throughout the
year from its Nomad (Allenby Capital), its corporate lawyers (Reed
Smith) and auditors (Nexia Smith & Williamson). External advice is
also provided as required on human resources, corporate policies and
financial PR. The Board also receives consultancy advice on any new
company opportunities, including technical due diligence.

Coantflicts of Intereslt

Every director has a statutory duty under the Companies Act 2006 to
avoid a situation in which they have a direct or indirect interest that may
or does conflict with the interests of the Company and every director

is required at the start of any meeting to disclose any conflicts in the
agenda matters to be discussed. The Company’s Articles of Association
allow for a director to vote and form part of the quorum if the confiict
arises from a permitted cause.

Internal controls
The Board is ultimately responsible for establishing and monitoring

internal control systems and reviewing the effectiveness of these
systems, The Board views the effective operation of the internal control
environment as critical to the success of the Company. However, it
recognises that such systems can provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or' loss.”

The key elements of the Company’s mternal comrol system
are as follows: ‘

B Close management of the day-to-day nctmt:es by the
executive directors;

B An annual budgeting procéss'w;h.icil is approved by the
Board, performance against which is reviewed at every
Board meeting; ) '

B No single individual has the aﬁility'to authorise payments
in excess of £2,000;

B Monthly management reporting'to thie Board against
agreed KPIs; and

B An annual audit of the financial stntements

Share dealing, anti-bribery and Whistleblowing
The Company applies a share dealing code in conformity with the
requirements of Rule 21 of the AIM Rules. All employees, including
new joiners, are required to agree to comply with the code. The
Company also has anti-bribery and whlstleblowmg policies, which
are included in the Company handbook and communicated to all
employees. The Company operates an open and inclusive culture and
employees are encouraged to speak up if they have any concerns.
The aim of such policies is to ensure that all directers and employees
observe ethical behaviours and bring matters which cause them concern
to the attention of either the executive or non-executive directors.

Our Key Stakeholders

We rely on our stakeholders for our success in achieving our aim of
becoming the leading investment company specialising in IoT in the
UK. Qur key stakeholders are our network of companies, our people,
our shareholders, our suppliers and the wider community within which
we operate.

Qur network of companies
Each company has a Tern nominated director who works closely
with the companies to advise and guide with regular interactions
throughout the month and more fermally through attendance at their
monthly board meetings.

The companies provide a report for the Board cach month and the
CEOs present at the Board meeting at least annually.
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Director’s Report

18 challenges,

ig opportunities

For the year ended 31 December 202l

The Company is reg'is‘tered-as a public limited company (plc). The
Company’s Ordinary shdres of 0,02p each are treded on AIM of the
London Stock Exchange.

Principal activities
The principal activity of the Company is investing in the Internet of
Things sector.

Resulls and. dividends

The results for the year are shown in the Income Statement and
Statement of Comprehensive Income on page 48.

The profit for the year was £4,578,321 (2020: £803,891).

The directors do not recommend payment of a dividend.

Political and charitable contributions

Recognising the ongoing difficulties suffered by many in our local
communities due to the pandemic, the Board approved a £10,000
charitable denation to a number of charities nominated by the
employees and directors, all of which support vulnerable children
and adults living in poverty or homelessness around the UK
(2020 £10,000).

Control procedures )

Operational procedures have been developed for the Company that

embody key controls over relevent areas. The implications of changes

in law and regulations are considered by the Company.

The Board considered the need for an internal sudit function and
“during 2021 an internal audit function was set up to undertake control

reviews of our network of companies, under the direction of the CFO.

COVID-19

The developing COVID-19 pandemic understandably influenced

the Board and its Commititee’s activities in the early part of the
year. As the year progressed, the Board's focus, outside its usual
responsibilities, turned to ensuring the Company operated as usual
with a mix of face to face and hybrid interactions, with consideration
given to how best to ensure good interaction with stakeholders.

The fortnightly video conference with our network of companies’
CEOs continued but with a more strategic focus and encouraged the
interaction of all attendees on a wide range of value creation, people
and ESG topics. ’

Even during a time when restrictions of movement are still a
possibility, the team and our network of companies are in a good
position to continue to grow, capitalising on the successes of the year,
whilst remaining flexible, agile businesses; essential in the changeable
potitical and healthcare environment we currently face.

Going concern

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern
basis because, as set out in detail in Note 1,3, the directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources

to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

This has been assessed using detailed cash Aow analysis so that the
Board can conclude that the Company has sufficient working capital
resources to continue for’at least 12 months without any additional
financing requirements. The ongoing impact of COVID-19 has been
considered as part of this assessment. In the event that opportunities
are presented such that additional funding was required, management
are confident that they would be able to obtain additional funds from
various sources.
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Chairman’s Corporate Governance Statement

The CEOs meet fortnightly on a video conference with the Board and
this provides an opportunity te discuss strategic progress but also to
bring in external speakers, during 2021 this included a diversity and
inclusion workshop. Regular industry relevant articles are also shared
within this group.

Qur employees

Our people are central (o the success of our business. We want to
deliver outstanding service to our companies by ensuring our people
are engaged and active in delivering the Company strategy. We are

a growing company with a small number of employees, all of whom
have regular contact with the CEO and other directors, where open
communication and feedback is encouraged.

Qur shareholders
The Company values the views of its sharehotders and recognises
their interest in the Company’s strategy and performance, Board
membership and quality of management. It therefore encourages
sharcholders to offer their views,

We do this via a programme of events which have continued to
be adapted to allow for the limitations placed on events by social
distancing requirements due to the pandemic:

AGM

The AGM provides an opportunity for sharcholders, particularly
private investors, to question the Board on issues arising in & formal
setting and then informally immediately following the AGM.
Directors enjoy the opportunity to engage with shareholders, answer
their questions and meet with them informatly.

The Company’s current intention is to proceed with a face-to-
face AGM. The Company will continue to monitor UK Government
and NHS advice and members will be notified in the event that the
Company is required to change its plans,

The Company plans to host an online meeting after the AGM
to present an update for the year and to provide an opportunity for
questions to be asked by sharcholders unable to attend the AGM.

Shareholder calls

A minimum of two shareholder calls per annum provide an
opportunity for shareholders to put their questions to the Board

and from time to time to the CEOs from our network of companies
who are also often in attendance. These calls provide a helpiul way
of presenting an update to the shareholders on a regular basis and
addressing their questions by taking and answering questions posed
to the directors through this forum. The calls held during 2021 were
hosted on a video link and this will conlinuge to be the preferred
format 10 use for future events.

Annual Report

We pubtish a full annual report and accounts each year where we
articulate the strategy for the coming yearand a review of the annual
performance. The report is available in online and paper format.

Regulatory and non-regulatory news

We issue regulatory news as required and non-regulatory news to
communicaie significant news from our network of companies and
explain the relevance and impact of the press release.

Analyst reports are periodically prepared and issued by Progressive
Research 1o provide a more indepth analysis in support of regulatory
news updates.

Website

The Company’s website (www.ternple.com) maintains a
comprchensive, up to date news flow for shareholders and other
interested partics. A dedicated email address is provided (info@ternplc.
com) which is managed by the Company’s financial public relations
advisors. The Company may exercise discretion as to which questions
will receive a response and all information provided will be freely
available in the public domain. If necessary, the enquiries will be
brought to the Board's attention and a summary of key themes is now
prepared for the Board every month. There is a section dedicated to
investors which includes financial results, analyst coverage, corporate
governance information, information on the Board, constitutional and
admission documents and a link to our regulatory news.

Qur suppliers

Qur Company has a small number of suppliers and therefore regular
interaction is the norm, Feedback is inherent within these interactions
and input from specifically our nomad, brokers and PR agency have
resulted in improved external communication and better interaction
with our wider stakeholder groups. These partics also provide feedback
into the annval Board Evaluation process.

Qur Community

We are closely involved with each of our companies and therefore can
influence their consideration of impact on their community. Given our
area of expertise our companies are oflen involved in addressing ESG
factors by increasing efficiencies and focusing actions on minimising
waste, In 2022, our focus on this area will increase to ensure we are
fulfilling our aim to have a positive impact on our environment

and community.

L/_,_,_L/

lan Ritchie
Chairman
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Business Risks

Financial risk management
objectives and policies

The management of the business and.achievement of the Company’s strategy are subject to a
number of risks. The Board considers that the risks detailed below represent the key areas that
could impact on achieving overall strategic objectives. The key controfs over the Grbup‘s' principal
risks and uncertainties are documented in the Company’s risk register, which includes an "
assessment of the risk, likelihood of occurrence, severity of impact and mitigating actions.

An assessment of the strength of mitigating actions determines the
net risk score and any further actions required. This risk register is
reviewed regularly by the Board, with assistance from the Board
committees. This review also assesses the effectiveness of the
Company's risk management and retated control systems. The
executive directors meet at least weekly to review ongoing trading
performance for the network of companies, discuss budgets, forecasts,
opportunities and new risks associated with ongoing trading, No
system can fully eliminate risk and therefore, the understanding of
cperational risk is central to the management process. .

Identifying, evaluating and managing the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Company is an integral part of the way the
business operates. Market and economic conditions are recognised
as one of the principal risks in the current trading environment.
This risk is mitigated by the close monitoring of trading conditions
and the performance of our network of companies The Company is
affected by a number of risks and uncertainties, not alt of which are
wholly within its control as they relate to the wider macroeconomic
and legislative environment within which the Company operates. As
a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the risk register was expanded
to capture specific COVID-19 impacts and review controls which
may be operating less effectively as a result of COVID-19 impacts.
Also during the year an internal audit function was created to
evaluate and assess the controls within our network of companies,
ensuring any risks were highlighted to the Audit Committee which
would escalate and report on the reviews to the Board.

To enable shareholders to appreciate what the business considers
are the principal operaticnal risks, they are briefly cutlined below:

Risks include not being able to secure later rounds of funding at
crucial develepment inflection points and not being able to source
or retain appropriately skilled and experienced staff. Other risks
arise where competing technologies enter the market, or commercial

traction is not achieved within the forecast Iiriléljfi'llme with’
commercial success protrected leading to severe cash flow pressure.
Technology can be materially unproven and may ultimately fail,
1P may be infringed, copied or stolen, may be more susceptible to
cybercrime and other administrative taxation or compliance issues.
These factors may lead to a reduction in value generated at the
Company level. e

The Company does not operate in the Ukraine or Russia and is
therefore not directly affected by the impact of the ongoing
political conflict. B

Assessment of business risk

The Board regularly reviews operating and strategic risks, with the
assistance of its committees. The Company’s operating procedures
include a system for reporting financial and non-financial information
to the Board including:

B reports from management with a review of the business
at each Board meeting, focusing on any new decisions/
risks arising;

B reports on the performance of the network of companies,
this now includes a rotating monthly presentation by
one of the network of companies’ CEOs at each
Board meeting;

B reports on selection criteria of new companies and a
discussion around pipeline and new opportunities;

B quarterly review of the risk register;

M consideration of issues relating to governance and
compliance;

B reports from the sub-committees when they meet; and

B consideration of reports prepared by third parties.
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Mitigating
Risk

Ability to maximise
value from the network
of companies

Risk

The timing of disposal of a holding is
unicertain and cash returns to the Company
are therefore not predictable.

Potenfial Impact

Compaﬁies may require additional funding if

- syndicalion events are delayed.

_The funding requirements may exceed those
forecast in thé Company cash flow.

Mitigation Strategy
The Company maintains sufficient cash
resources to manage ils ongoing operational
and investment commitments.
- - Regular operational reviews are
undertaken by the executive team who meet

" weekly and the investment directors present a
review of performance at each meeting.

Financial performante of the Company is

a standing agenda item at the Board.

" The Board meets with the CEOs from
the network of companies every fortnight to
discuss operational performance and cother
strategic initiatives.

Dominance of single
company in the network
of companies

Risk -

The network of companies is dominated by
one or two companies.

Potential Impact
If one dominant company fails it may have a
disproportionate impact on the Company.

Mitigation Strategy

The Company is building a network of
companies to insulate itself against poor
performance of any single company.

Inherent risk of building
a network of early-stage
companies

Risk

The returns and cash proceeds from the
network of companies may be insufficient.

The majority of the businesses are at a
relatively early stage in their development,

and as a result, carry inherent risks including
technical and commerciat risks. Typically, such
companies are developing new technology or
disrupting existing technologies in a relatively
new sector.

Potential Impact
Risks include not being able to secure later
rounds of funding at crucinl development
inflection points and not being able to source
or retain appropriately skilled and experienced
staff. Other risks arise where competing
technologies enter the market, or commercial
traction is not achieved within the forecast
timeframe with commercial success protracted
leading to severe cash flow pressure.
Technology can be materially unproven
and may ultimately fait, IP may be infringed,
copied or stolen, may be more susceptible to
eybercrime and other administrative taxation
or compliance issues. These factors may lead
to the Company recognising a fair value Joss or
loss on diposal. :

Mitigation Strategy _
The Company undergoes rigorous due
diligence before proceeding with backing o
new company. i

The Company actively takes an influential
role in the strategic direction of its companies
and regularly menitors performance. A
Company Director holds a Non-Executive
Board position on all company boards

The Company’s strategy has been
formulated by the management team with
a sirong track record of generating gains
from carly-stage companies within the
technology sector.

These mitigating factors reduce,
although they do not eliminate, the risk of
direct failure, particularly in the current
pandemic-induced economic climate. A focus
on bringing in synergistic companies and
encouraging a strong network between them
further mitigate the inherent risks.

Retain and attract
successtul staff

Risk

The Company is unable to retain key
individuals or attract experienced, skilled and
successful Directors.

Potential Impact

The Company depends on the experience,
skili and judgement of the team in both
selecting promising tompanies to join the
network as well as to guide them once they
join and the success of the Company is
dependent on having the right individuals
in place.

New staff can cause disruption for the
Company as new individuals take time to gain
an understanding of the company’s strategy
and requirements.

Mitigation Strategy
The Company offers balanced and
competitive remuneration packages, overseen
by the Remuneration Commiitee, designed to
attract, motivate and retain key individuals.
This includes the potential to receive
performance related bonuses and share
options.

Key individuals in the companies are
offered a competitive remuneration package
and either shares or share option incentives.

Cyber security breaches

Risk
Cyber security incidents may affect the
operations and reputation of the Company.

Potential Impact

A significant cyber security breach could
result in financizl liabilities, reputational
damage, business disruption or the loss of
business critical or commercially sensitive
information.

Mitigation Strategy

To ensure operational resilience end minimise
the risk of occurrence of cyber security
incidents, the Company utilises reliable
sofiware and hardware and operates anti-virus
protection systems and backup procedures.
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Business Risks

Maintain required level
of capital to operate at
optimum level

Risk
The Company is unable to raise new funds due
to a reduction in investor confidence or access
to capital,

The timing of company realisations is
uncertain and cash returns to the Company are
therefore not predictable.

Potential Impact

Can result in a reduction in the ability to grow
the network of companies or the ability to
maintain heldings in existing companies.

May have a detrimental impact on the
Company’s ability to fund operational costs.

Mitigation Strategy
The Company will maintain a sufficient cash
balance to finance itself for a prudent period or
ensure it has access to funds.

The financial performance of the Company
is a standing agenda item at the' Board
and regular working capital revicws are
undertaken. ’

Competition risk

Risk

As the loT sector becomes more mature, it
will attract increased interest from entities
competing with the Company.

Potential Impact

This may have a detrimental impact on the
Company’s ability to add businesses to its
network at an acceptable cost.

The Company may miss out on opportunities
if it does not match prices and terms offered
by competitors but equally it may experience
decreased rates of return if it matches
unfavourable terms.

Mitigation Strategy
The Company seeks to mitigate competition
by having a diverse pipeline of opportunities
and a proven track record of successful
experiences with its network of companies.
The management team has a strong track
record of providing opportunities in the USA
for UK technelogy companies which should
remain attractive to new companies.

Foreign exchange risk

Risk
The valuation of assets may be impacted by
foreign exchange movements

Potential Impact
The value of the Company’s assets could fall.

Mitigation Strategy .

The Company actively reviews the value of

its assets and will consider action on foreign
exchange risk where relevant, following advice
from advisors.

The Company does not currently operate
hedging arrangements to mitigate exposure to
currency fluctuations but relationships are in
place with foreign exchange service providers
in the event the Board decides to make
such arrangements. :

ESG/Climate Change

Risk

Increasing need to navigate the regulatory,
market, technoltogy, and reputational aspects
associated with climate change concerns as
well os the potential physical impacts.

Potential Impact

Transitioning to a lower-carbon economy may
enlail policy, legal, technology, and market
changes to address mitigation and adaptation
requirements related to climate change, which
include changing stakeholder expeclations as
consumers and investors making decisions
based on carbon performance and climate
resilience. Impact on employee attraction and
retention due to increased interest in working
for ‘climate aware’ organisations.

Mitigation Strategy

Development of a company ESG strategy
and working with ESG advisors to assess
carbon footprint and target reduction as well
as focusing on stakeholder interactions and
ensuring the Company culture reflects all
elements of the ESG strategy.

Macroeconomic issues

Risk
This would include any further restrictions
caused by the COVID-19 Pandemic. The
Economic impact of COV1D-19 affecting the
performance of the Company and uncertainty
in the Economic climate caused by
the pandemic

Macroeconomic issues glso incorporate
the UK exit from the European Union
and ongoing trade negotiation and related
regulatory changes as well as the ongoing
hostitities between Russia and Ukraine.

Potential Impact

Restrictions on movement caused by the
pandemic can impact on the commercial
pecformance of the companies. Loss of
consumer confidence impacts on
fundraising success.

Widespread sickness in the workforce of
the companies may reduce the operational
effectiveness of the business.

Deiri[neninl impact on performance of
companies with exposure to the European
Union, Russia or Ukraine.

Mitigation Strategy

The Company monitors its working capital

to ensure it has sufficient funds to maintain

operations during any economic slow down.
The Board has taken legal advice on

the Company’s exposure to Brexit-related

risks and continues to monitor the impact of

the trade discussions and the impact of the

conflicts between Russia and Ukraine.

Reputational risk
Risk '

As a public company listed on AIM, anyone
can acquire shares in the Company.

Potential Impact

The actions of sharcholders are outside of the
control of the Company but can impact on the
Company by sssociation.

Mitigation Strategy

The Board maintains regular interaction and
communication with all its stakehclders and
seeks to openly articulate its culture and
sirategy to sharcholders at regular points
through the year.
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Director’s Remuneration

Director’s Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2021

1 am pleased to present our Remuneration
Commiittee Report for the year ended 31
December 2021, which summarises the work
of the Remuneration Committee, as well as the
remuneration policy, details of the dlrectors

- remuneration packages and a summary of all
remuneration paid to directors during the year.

The members of the Remuneration Committee (the “Committce™)
are Alan Howarth (Chair of the Committee) and lan Ritch ie, both of
whom are independent non-executive directors of the Compahy._

The Remureration Committee is responsible for z_lgméiné the
framework and remuneration policy for the executive directors. It
sets the remuneration for the Board, agrees the terms of employmem'
of all Board members, including those on cessation of employment, i

ensuring all payments are fair to both the employee and the Company; -

continues to review the appropriateness of the remuneration policies,
with reference 1o the conditions across the Company and up to-date
information on other companies, including benchmarking exercises
carried out for AIM companies and ensures that all requlrements on
the disclosure of remuneration are fulfilled.

There was one Remuneration Committee meeting in 202I This
was fully attended by all members. No advice was sought by the
Board or its Committees on any significant matters.

The activity of the Committee during the yvear was predominately
focused on remuneration matters, including approving the - )
remuneration increase for the executive directors and approving the
bonus payments to the executive directors following the assessment
of performance against agreed financial Key Performance Indicators
(K Pls), which are designed to inspire and measure business progress.
The Committee also approved the performance measures for the 2022
annual bonus. The bonus amounts paid in respect of the year ended
31 December 2021 are set out in the table on page 42.

Remuneration Policy

The policy of the Remuneration Committee is to provide executive
remuneration packages designed to attract, motivate end retain
directors of the calibre necessary to manage the Company and to
reward them for enhancing shareholder value and returns. It aims
to provide appropriate levels of remuneration to do this and have
compensation programs that are structured at or near the midpoint
of our peer group whilst maintaining affordability for the Company.

There are three main elements of the directors’ remuneration
package being;:

M basic annual salary,
B performance related bonus and

M participation in the Company’s share option plan.

Other benefits include emptoyer contributions to pension, life
assurance and private health insurance.

On'y base salarics are pensionable. All directors® salaries are
reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.

Executive directors’ service contracts _
The executive directors are appointed under service contracts \\hich
are not for a fixed duration and are terminable upen six months’ notice
by either party.

Non-executive directors .
Each of the non-executive directors is appointed under a letter of
appointment with the Company. Subject to their re—appointment by
shareholders, the initial term of appointment for each nun-c\ecut:ve
director is three years from the dste of eppointment end their " .~
appointments are terminable upon three months’ notice by elther L ‘
party. The non-executive directors’ fees are determined by l_he.Bogn.i.

The Company Share Option Plan ’ B
The Company operates an equity seitled share-based remuneration -

scheme for directors, employees and advisors. Under the dlrector and,
employees’ scheme (issued during the year), oplwns may be grzmted '

to purchase shares which must be exercised within ten years fmm the '_

date of the grant.

The options are capable of exercise on the third anniversary of
the grant date according to the increase in share price on the vesting
date. If at any point prior to the third anniversary of the grant date, |
the share price increases by 100%, then 100% of the shares vests
immediately. If there has been no increase in share price by the third
anniversary, then 0% of the shares vest. Between these two points lhe
options will vest on a straight-line basis.

No options were issued to directors during the vear ended 31 *
December 2021.

Periormance Related Bonus

The purpose of the bonus plan is 1o align the interests of selected senior
executives of the Company with those of its sharcholders. Participation
in the Plan is at the discretion of the Board and it will enable selected
senior executives to share in a proportion of the value realised from

the investments made by the Company over time based on successful
performance against KPIs set by the Board.

The annual bonus for executive directors is assessed against financial
KPls. Challenging targets have been set, Actual performance targets
are not disclosed as they are considered to be commercially sensitive
at this time.
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Director’s Remuneration

The remuneration of each director, excluding share options awards, during the year cnded 31 Becember 2021 as detailed in the table below:

Baslc Salary (.‘omrl':)t:.xr:?(i?\ls‘ rl;c.:‘lfgm:& Qiher beneflts 202) TOTAL 2020 TOTAL
£000 £000 £QO0 £000 £000
[EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS T ]
Albert Sisto 151.7 15.3 89.9 15.7 272.5 212.3
Sarah Payne 132.0 13.2 38.8 0.6 184.6 149.6
Bruce Leith 129.4 12.9 38.4 12.4 193.1 149.1
Matthew Scherba 129.%4 12.9 38.4 4.5 185.2 136.8
INON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS ) i ":_7'7 B *_f __}
lan Ritchie 37.8 - - - 378 32.4
Alan Howarth 3.5 - - - 31.5 27.0
[ 618 543 2055 _ _ 332 0048 707.2 |
Share based payment charge 34.2 85.5
[To(al remuneration 6l11.8 54.3 205.5 33.2 939.0 792.7]
Note: The 2020 remuneration includes the 20% reduction in fees for six months sacrificed in the carly months of the pandemic.
This reduction was not repaid to the directors,
Director’s Share Options
The director’s outstanding share options as at 31 December 2021 are shown in the table below:
2020 Granied Exercised Expired 2021 Opilon price Expiry date
[EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS - ]
Al Sisto 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 8.5p 18 May 2027
Sarah Payne 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 8.5p 18 May 2027
Bruce Leith 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 8.5p 18 May 2027
Matthew Scherba 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 9.5p 1 Dec 2029
[NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS - ]
lan Ritchie - - - - -
Alan Howarth 250,000 - - - 250,000 I3p 22 Feb 2023

345 )

Alan Howarth
Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee
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Auditor’s Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF TERN PLC

Opinicn

We have audited the financial statements of Tern Plc (the ‘company’)
for the year ended 31 December 2021 which comprise the Income
Statement and Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of
Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the Statement
of Cash Flows and the notes to the financial statements, including
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and
UK-adopted international accounting standards. In our opinion, the
financial statements: o

M give a true and fair view of the sta’ig of the company’s
affairs as at 31 December 2021 and of the company’s
profit for the year then ended; - :

B have been properly prepa}ed in accordance with UK-

" adopted international accounting sté'ndards; and

B the financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006.

Basis for opinion ..
We conducted our audit in accordance with lﬁiernalionnl Standards on

Auditing (UK) (1SAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section

of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard
as applicd to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion, -

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of
the current period, and include the most sighiﬁcant assessed risks of
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified,
including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the
efforts of the engagement team. These matters were eddressed in

the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in
ferming our opinion thereon, and we do not pfovide a separate opinion
on these matters.

DESCRIPTION dF RISK HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN THE AUDIT

KEY AUDIT MATTER
Valuation of lavestments dire the most
investmenis significnat balance on the

balance sheet nod the value
is reliant on third party
finnocial information nod
projections.

Due to the nature of the
investments there is a lack

of observable inputs and
therefore the key risk is
considered to be the fair
value of investments. We
therefore identify the .
valuation of investments held
for trading as high risk.

The company's agcuuming
policy on investments is
shown io note 1.8 to the
linancial statements, critical
accounting judgements and
estimates included in note 3
and related disclosures are
included io note I11.

appropriate.

For investmeats where there has been third party equity investments in the year, we
compared the valuation of investments keld in the balance sheet to the valuntion derived
from the third party fundraises into these investmeats.

For investments listed on a recognised exchange, we compared the valuntion of investments
held in the balance sheet to the valuation derived from the publicly available share price
from the exchange as at 31 December 2021. ’

For all other investments, we challenged the valuation of investments, assessing the
methodology used by manogement and corroborating key inputs/nssumptions s

We utilised our specialist valuations team to review the validity of the methodology and

calculntions used to value the investments,

We tested the mathematical accuracy of the valuation calculations.
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QOur application of materiality

The materiality for the company financial statements as a whole
was set at £1,100,000. This has been determincd with reference to
the benchmark of the company’s net assets, which we consider to
be one of the principal considerations for members of the company
in assessing the company’s performance. Given the company is an
Investment Company, as defined under IFRS 10, an earnings-based
measure would not be appropriate. Financial Statement materiality

. represents 3.5% of the company’s net assets as presented in the

Statement of Financial Position which aligns with the interests of

the users of the financial statements. We also applied a specific
materiality for all balances other than those in relation to invesiments
which was set at £160,000. This is based on 10% of total expenditure

“in the year.

Performance materiality for the company’s financial statements
was set at £715,000, being 65% of company’s financial statement
materiality, for purposes of assessing the risks of material

-, misstatement and determining the nature, timing and extent of

. further audit procedures. We have sei it at this amount to reduce

" 1o an appropriately tow level the probability that the aggregate

of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds financial
statement materiality. We judged this level to be appropriate based
on cur understanding of the company and its financial statements,
g[s"updated by our risk assessment procedures and our expectation
regarding current period misstatements including considering

_experience from previous audits. The level of 65% was setdue to the: "+~ '

levet of estimation in the investments balance.
Performance materiality, in respect of all balances other than

. . those in relation to the investments balance has also been set at 65% of |
financial statement materiality, being £104,000. ’

Conclusions relating (0 going concern

" In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the

*"directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the

preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

- Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the company’s ability to,
- continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included:

B Challenging the key assumptions used in the detailed
‘budgets and forecasts prepared by management for the
* financial year to 31 December 2022 and period to 31
. March 2023;

B Assessing the mathematical accuracy of the detailed
budgets and forecasts and agreeing to the underlying key
assumptions;

B Comparing actual cash low performance in 2021 to
management’s prior year forecasts and comparing actual
cash flow performance in 2022 so far to management's
2022 forecast;

H Reviewing bank statements to monitor the cash position
of the company post year end;

B Obtaining an understanding of significant expected cash
outfiows in the forthcoming 12-month period from the
date of signing these financinl statements including any
cash requirements the company may have to provide to
its investee companies; and

B Considering the sensitivity of the assumptions and re-
assessing headroom after sensitivity.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified

any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the
company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at
least twelve months from when the financial statemenis are authorised
for issue.

Qur responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors
with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of
this report.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the
Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information
contained within the Annual Report. Our opinion on the financiol
statements does not cover the other information and, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon. Qur responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other

. information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements

or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or otherwise

.appears to be materially misstated. 1f we identify such material

inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required

" tb determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in
_ the financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact.

_We have nothing to report in this regard.

_ Opinions on other matters prescribed by the

Companies Act 2006

. In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of
- the audit:

B the information given in the strategic report and the
directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financinl statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements; and

B the strategic report and the directors’ report have
been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required (o

report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company
and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have

" not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the
- directors’ report.

B We have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006
requires us to report te you if, in our opinion:

B adequate accounting records have not been kept, or
returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

¥ the financial statements are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns; or

B certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified
by law are not made; or

B we have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit.

ol
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Auditor Report

by law are not made; or

B we have not received all the information and explanations
we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement
set out on page 31, the directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to geing concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liqu{date the company or to cense operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements

Qur objeclives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report

that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level

of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted

in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

The.extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting
irregulariiies, inctuding fraud, is detailed below. Irregularities,
including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and
regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilitics,
outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of
irregularitics, including fraud.

We obtained an understanding of the tegal and regulatory
framework applicable to the company as well as the laws and
regulations applicable, and considered these througheut our testing,
We obtained'an understanding of the entity’s policies and procedures
by discussions with management. We also drew on our existing
understanding of the company’s industry and regulation.

We understand the company complies with requirements of these
frameworks through:

B The Directors updating operating procedures,
manuals and internal controls as legal and regulatory
requirements change.

B The Directors’ close invelvement in the day-to-day
running of the business, meaning that any litigation or
claims would come to their attention directly.

In the context of the audit, we considered those laws and
regulations: which determine the form and content of the financial
statements; which are central to the company s ability to conduct
business; and where failure to comply could result in material
penalties. We have identified the following laws and regulations as
being of significance in the context of the company:

B The Companies Act 2006 and IFRS in respect of the
preparation and presentation of the financial statements;
and

B AIM regulations and Market Abuse Regulations

We performed the following specific procedures to gain evidence
about compliance with the significant laws and regulations above;

B We have reviewed a sample of legal and professional
invoices

B Made enquiries with management as to any legal or
regulatory issues during the year

B We have reviewed Board minutes for evidence of non
compliance

B We have confirmed with management there has been no
correspondence with the FRC during the year

B We have obtained representation from management that
they have disclosed to us all known instances of non-
compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and
regulations

_ The senior statutory auditor led a discussion with senior members
of the engagement team regarding the susceptibility of the entity’s
financial statements to material misstatement, including how fraud
might occur. The key areas identified as part of the discussion were
with regard to the manipulation of the financial statements through
manual journals and inflation of investment values. This was
commﬂgicated to the other members of the engagement team who
were nof present at the discussion.

The procedures carried out 1o gain evidence in the above areas
included: .

M Testing of the investments balance as described in the key
audit matters section above; and

| Té;',t'ing of manual journal entries, selected based on
specific risk assessments applied based on the company’s
processes and controls surrounding manual journals.

The senior statutory auditor was satisfied that the engagement
tearn collectively had the appropriate competence and capabilities
to identify or recognise irregularitics. In particular, both the senior
statutory auditor and the audit manager have a number of years’
experience in dealing with companies subject 1o AIM Regulation.

A furtherdescription of our responsibilities is available on the
FRC's website at; www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.

Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
company’s members those matters we are required to state to them

in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone
other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

2 St £ illiana

Nexia Smith & Williamson (Mar 16,2022 22:14 GMT)

Sancho Simmonds

Sentor Statutory Auditor, for and on behalf of
Nexia Smith & Williamson
Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

25 Moorgate,

16/03/2022
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Financials 2021

Income Statement and Statement of
Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 202I

Notes 202 2020

£ £
Fee income s - | 63.?83 151,159
Movement in fair value of-.irivéstinems il _(_3.24_0,695 1,992,891
Loss on disposal : . (i§9.|l5_) -
LTosal investment income'.l_ _ f‘i.ll_i')h;:763 2,144,050 |
Administration costs - (1.635;Q5§) (1,341,802)
Other expenses I 6 B (7'5;572) (206,845)
[Operating profit 7 4,394,333 595,403 _]
Finance income SR 8 . 183988 208,488
[Profit before tax o _4,578,321 803,891 _|
Tax ' 9 o = -
ﬁoﬁt and total comprehensive income for the period .4.57&.’32| 803.89 J

Since there is no other cumprehensi\"e income, the profit for the year is the same as the total comprehensive income for the year.

A M M M — e mi Tim G e e mmmm o e ey gl e A = e

|EARNINGS PER SHARE ____

i
!
|
S

0.30 pence |

[Basic earnings per share 10 .35 pence
[Dilulecl earnings per share 10 1.33 pence 0.30 pence |

The accompanying accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial stalements.
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Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2021

Notes 2021 2020

£ £

{ASSETS
.NON-CURRENTASSETS . . e
Investments 1} 30,612,047 21,904,791
| 30,612,047 21.904.791_]
(cuRmENTASSETS o
Trade and other receivables 2 189,354 261,301
Cash and cash equivalents 13 1,957,203 2,130,166
| 2,146,557 2,391,467 |
[TOTAL ASSETS 32,758,604 24,296,258 |
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES -
Share capitat 14 1,371,970 1,367,635
Share premium 14 30,546,569 26,740,789
Retained earnings 15 498,010 {4,107,767)
| 32,416,549 24,000,657_}
(cummenvuABWITIES ' o
Trade and other payables 16 342,055 295,601
{TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 342,055 295.601_|
[TOTAL LIABILITIES 342,055 295,601 ]
[TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 32,758,604 24,296,258 |

The financial statements were approved

and authorised for issue by the Board Company number 05131386
of Directors on 16 March 2022 and were

signed on its behalfl by:

SaralfPayne
Director

The accompanying accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Financials 2021

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2021

Share capital Share premium  Retained earnings Total equity

£ £ £ £
[Balance at 31 December 2019 1,355,571 22,578,619 . (5,021,113) 18.913,077_]
[Total comprehensive income - = '_ 803.891 803,89|J
(TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS ____ T
Issue of share capital 12,064 4,488,336 _' - 4,500,400
Share issue COsts - - (326,166) - . - - (326.166)
Share based payment charge - ) =~ : 109,455 109.455
[Batance at 31 December 2020 1,367,635 26,740,789 | (4,107.767) 24,000,657 |
\Total comprehensive income — - | 4,578,321 4,578,321 |
[TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS __ T T T T T
Issue of share capital 4,335 4031665 | . - 4,036,000
Share issue costs - (225.885) - - (225.885)
Share based payment charge - - o 27,456 27,456
[Balance at 31 December 2021 1,371,970 30,546,569 - 498,010 32.l|I6.5!¢9J

The eccompanying sccounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Notes 2021 2020
£ £
[OPERATINGACTIVITIES __ _ . ]
Net cash used in operations 20 (1,535,722) (1,189,481)
Purchase of investments (2,504,183) - (1,.957,248)
Cash received from sale of investments - h 93,421
Interest received i - 56,829 S L.275
[ﬁet cash used in operating activities ' {3.983,078) : (3.052.033)J
[FINANCING ACTIVITIES T T T ]
Proceeds on issues of shares 4,000.000 4,500,400
Share issue expenses . (225.883) . " (326.,166)
Proceeds from exercise of options 36,000 o -
[Net cash from financing activities 3,810,115 4,174,234 |
{Decrease)/increase in cash and cas}l equivalents (172,963) ' 1,122,201
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,130,166 - L007.965
[Cash and cash equivalents at end of year . 1,957,203 2,130,166 |

The accompanying accounting policies and notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Financials 2021

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
financial statements are set out below.

- 11 GENERAL INFORMATION
Tern plc is an investing company specialising in private sofiware
companies, predominantly in the Internet of Things.

The Company is a public limited company, incorporated in England
and Wales, with its shares traded on AIM, a market of that name

operated by the London Stock Exchange.

The address of Tern's registered office is 27/28 Eastcastle Street,

" London WiW 8DH. Items included in the financial statements of the

* Company are measured in Pound Sterling, rounded to the nearest

- pound which is the Company’s presentational and functicnal currency.

1.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION
_ The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in
" accordance with UK-sdopted international accounting standards.
: 'T!.l;é financial statements have been prepared on the basis of the
.'recqgn'ition and measurement principles of the IFRS that were
" applicable at 31 December 2021.

- The preparaticn of financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles requires the use of estimates and
* assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
. vevenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount,
-event or actions, actual results may ultimately differ from
those estimates.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis except for investments and certain financial instruments

which are measured at fair vatue at the end of each reporting period.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for the assets. The principal accounting policies

set out below have been consistently applied to all periods presented,
except where stated.

In accordance with IFRS 10, para 4 the directors consider the
Company to be an investment company and have taken the exemption
not to present consolidated financial statements or apply 1IFRS3 when
it obtains control of another entity as it is an investing company

‘that measures all of its invesiments at fair value through the income
statement in accordance with IFRS 9.

1.3 GOING CONCERN
The financial statements have been prepared on the going
concern basis.

The directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has
adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future.
For this reason, they continue o adopl the going concern basis in

preparing the Company’s financial statements. This has been assessed
using detailed cash flow analysis so that the Board can conclude that
the Company has sufficient working capital resources to continue

for at least 12 months from the approval of the financial statements
without any additional financing requirement, A review of a variety
of macro-economic factors including COVID-19 have been
considered as part of this assessment. In the event that opportunities

" are presented such that additional funding was required, management

are confident that they would be able to obtain additional funds
from various sources. For example, the Company can exit part of its
investment in its held level one investments with the risk that such
transactions are determined by an inherent and undetermined
market risk.

L4 STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
International Financial Reporting Standards (“Standards™) in
issue but not yet effective

The Company has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs

- that have been issued but are not yet effective and are expected to

relate to the Company:

B IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: amendments
regarding the disclosure of accounting policies (issued in
February 2021 and effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023).

B 1AS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors: amendments regarding the
definition of accounting estimates (issued in Februoary
2021 and effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2023).

1.5 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS
There are no new standards adopted by the Company in the
financial year.

1.6 FEE INCOME

Under IFRS 15, fee income is recognised at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the Company is expected to be entitled

in exchange for transferring services to an investee company or
recharging legal edvice to an investee company. For each contract
with an investee company there is only one performance obligation
in the contract and the transaction price is readily identifiable. Fee
income is recognised as each performance obligation is satisfied in a
manner that depicts the transfer to the investee company of the goods
or services promised.

There is no variable consideration within the transaction price.
Fee income from a contract to provide services is recognised over

time as the services are rendered based on either a fixed price or an
hourly rate.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2021

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1.7 TAXATION .

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
any deferred tax, The charge for current tax is based on the results
for the period as adjusted for items which are non-assessable or
disallowed. It is calculated using rates that have been enacted or
substantively ¢nacted by the statement of financial position date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised where the carrying
amount of an asset or liability in the statement of financial position
differs to its tax base, except for differences arising on:

@ the initial recognition of an asset or linbility which is not
a business combination and at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting or taxable profit; and

@ investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities
where the Company is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the difference and it is probable that the
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances
where it is probable that the taxable profit will be available agginst
which the differences can-be utilised.

The amount of the asset o liability is determined using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date and
are expected to apply when the deferred tax liabilities/(nssets) are
settled/{recovered). Deferred tox balances are not discounted.

1.8 INVESTMENTS

The investment consisis of equity investmenis and convertible loan
notes issued to an investee cdmpany. The convertible loan notes are
financial assets with multiple embedded derivatives which can include
a warrant instrument. These financial assets are measured in their
entirety at FYTPL.

In accordance with IFRS 10, paragraph 4B, investments are
recognised at FVTPL in line with guidance set out in IFRS 9. Changes
in foreign exchange rates impact investments valved in a foreign
CuUrrency.

1.9 IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

Assets carried at fair value through profit or loss (FVYTPL)
Under IFRS 9 no impairment testing is required for equity
investments which are measured at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL™).

110 TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are classified as a financial asset and are valued at
amortised cost in accordance with IFRS 9. A provision for impairment
of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence
that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according
to the original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision

is calculated as the change in lifetime expected credit losses and
recognised in the income statement, in accordance with IFRS 9.

LIt CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents are carricd in the statement of financial
position. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks and other short term highly liquid investments
with original maturitics of three months or [ess.

LI12 TRADE PAYABLES
Trade payables are financial liabilitics measured at amortised cost in
accordance with [FRS 9.

113 EQUITY INSTRUMENTS
Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received net of direct
issue costs,

.14 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

All share based payments are accounted fer in accordance with IFRS
2 —*“Share based paymenlé".’ The Company issues equity-settled share
based pnyments in the form of share options to certain directors,
employees and advisors. Equity settléd share based payments are
measured at fair value at the date pfgr.ént. The fair vatue determined
at the grant date of equity-settled share based payments is expensed
on a straight line basis over the vc-slin-g period, with a corresponding
adjustment to retained earnings, based on the Company’s estimate of
shares that will eventually vest. .

Fair value is estimated using the Black-Scholes model as relevant

for the terms and conditions of the options. The expected life used

in the model has been adjusted, on the basis of management’s best
cstimate for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and
behavioral considerations. At each statement of financial position date,
the Company revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest as a result of the effect of non-market based vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any,
is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to

retained earnings.
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2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company uses a limited number of financial instruments;
comprising cash, convertible toans and various items such as trade
receivables and payables, which arise directly from operations.
The Company does not trade in financial instruments.

2.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS

The Company’s financial instruments comprise its investment
portfolio, loans to investee companies, cash balances, debtors and
creditors that arise directly from its operations. The Company is
exposed to market risk through the use of financial instruments and
specifically to liquidity risk, market price risk and credit rigk, which
result from the Company’s operating activities.

The Board’s policy for managing these risks is summarised below.

LIQUIDITY RISK - .-

The Company makes investments in predominantely prlvate o
companies for the medium term which are therefore not immediately
liquid. The Company manages this risk by holding cash to suppert

its investments and for working capital. The Company ensures it has
sufficient cash through a combination of means including proceeds
from asset sales, equity raises and, in the past, the use of convertible
loan notes. The financial performance and position of the investee
companies are regularly monitored to assess when further investment
may be required, this includes a review of cash flow forecasts.

The Company has a quoted investment which may be sold tu meet the
Company’s funding requirements.

The Company’s income and operating cash flows are éubstamially
independent of changes in market interest rates.

MARKET PRICE RISK

As the Company owns quoted investments, it will be exposed

to market price risk as shown by movements in the value of its equity
investments. Any such risk will be regularly monitored by

the directors.

The unquoted investments currently held are not liquid.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Company generally conducts its business within the UK, however
some of its investments are valued based on a foreign currency .
valuation. Device Authority, the most significant investment, is based
on a US dollar valuation and Wyld Networks is based on a SEK
valuation and therefore their value can change dependent on currency
exchange movement. To the extent that exchange rate fAuctuations
impact the value of the Company’s investments in its foreign
operations, they are not hedged. ‘

CREDIT RISK

The Company’s primary credit risk arises from loans made to its
investee companies and trade receivables. Financial instruments

that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk
consist primarily of accounts receivable and derivative instruments.
These instruments contain a risk of counterparties failing to discharge
their obligations. The Company monitors credit risk and manages
credit risk exposure by type of financial instrument by nssessing the
creditworthiness of counterparties. The Company does not anticipate
non-performance by counterparties; however it generally requires
security over the companies’ assets to support financial instruments
with credit risk. '

The Company derives its fee income from a small number of
investments. Fee income to these investee companies is not expected
to fluctuate significantly and is not significant in value. ~ :

The credit risk on loans is low as the expectation is to convert
loan balances on realisation of the assets. The credit risk on trade
receivables is low due to the generally low balance held.

The maximum credit exposure is equal to the carrying values of cash
at bank, accounts receivables and investments.

.

2.2 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company's objectives when managing capital are to sufegufmi
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for sharcholders, benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Company monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount
of equity plus debt as presented on the face of the statement

of financial position. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to sharcholders, |ssue new shares or sell
assets to reduce debt.

2.3 FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

Refer to note 17 for the fair value estimation accounting policy.

@ 'Tern PLC: AL RIZhLs Reservea 2022 54



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 202I

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, rarely
equal the related actual results. The key sources of estimation
uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjusiment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year are outlined below.

ESTIMATES -

Fair value of financial instruments

As set out in note 11, the Company holds unquoted investments

of £21.9m that have been designated as held for trading on initia)
recognition, Where practicable the Company determines the fair
value of these financiol instruments that are not quoted (Level 3)
using the most recent bid price at which a transaction has been
carried out, These techniques are significantly affected by certain
key assumplions, such as market liquidity. Given the nature of the
investments being early-stage business, other valuatipn methods such
as discounted cash flow analysis to assess estimates of future cash
flows and deri‘ve‘fnir vaelue estimates cannot aiways be substantiated
by comparison.with independent markets and, in many cases, may not
be capable of being realised immediately.

The Company holds financial assets that have been held at FVTPL.
The value pfthe.coﬁvertib]e loan notes has been estimated by
assessing the probability of each possible redemption or conversion
scenario and atcounting for this within the overall fair

value assessment.

JUDGEMENTS

Investments held at FVTPL

The critical judgement is the assessment that investments should be
consotidated. This assessment was reached following a review of all
the key conditions for an investment entity, as set out in IFRS 10 and
the Company was judged 10 have met those key conditions as follows:

B The Company obtains funds from one or more investors for
the purpose of providing those investor(s) with investment
management services;

B The Company commits to its investors that its business
purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital
appreciation, investment income, or both; and

B The Company measures and evaltuates the performance of
substantially all of its investments on a fair value basis.

B In coming to this conclusion, the Company also judged that
its investment-related activities do not represent a separate
substantial business activity or a separate substantial source
‘of income to the investment entity.

4. SEGMENTAL REPORTING

The accounting policy for identifying segments is based on internal
management reporting information that is regutarly reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker, which is identified as the Board of
Directors.

[n_idemi_i‘ying its operating segments, management generally follows
the Company's service lines which represent the main products

and services provided by the Company. The directors believe that

the Company’s continuing invesiment operations comprise one
segment and therefore the figures presented on the face of the income
statement and statement of financial position represent the segmental
information.
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5. STAFF COSTS

Staff costs for the Company during the year, including directors 2021 2020
£ £
Wages and salaries 909,060 690,771
Consultancy fees ‘ - 17.500
Social security costs 85,083 66,911
Pension costs ' 59,709 56,216
Share based payment chargg . 27,456 109,455
{Total staff costs - 1,081,308 940,853 |
The average number of pepﬁi'e (including non-executive directors)
employed by the Company during the year was: _
' 2021 2020
No No
Directors . BRI : 6 6
Employees o : S |
|Total ' .- : 7 71

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION o

Other than directors the Company had one employee as at 31 December 2021. Total remuneration paid to directors during the year was as follows:

2021 2020
£ £
(DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION,___ T Nl
- Salaries and benefits - . 850,455 638,353
- Consultancy fees , _ - 17,500
— Social security costs . 78,770 61,387
- Pension costs ' 54,309 51,475
- $hare based payment cnarge' 34,187 85,468
{Total directors’ remuneration LOI7,721 854,183 _|
ﬁotal remuneration of the highest paid director was 272,541 212,301 _]

A summary of remuneration paid to each director, including penston payments, is included in the Report on Directors’ Remuneration

(page 41-42).

Key management personne] is deemed to consist solely of the statutory directors.
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6. OTHER EXPENSES
2021 2020
£ £
Share based payment (options) 27.456 109,455
One-off legal and professional costs 31,916 1,613
Recharged professional fees 6,000 85,777
Charitable donations 10,000 10,000
75,372 206,845 |
' 7.‘0DERATING PROFIT 2021 2020
_ . £ £
- .PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS HAS BEEN ARRIVEQ i_i'_r AFTER CHARGING
. Remuneration of directors : 1,017,721 854,183
_ * FEES PAYABLE TO THE COMPANY'S AUDITOR FOR SERVICES PROVIDED TO THE COMPANY
. — Audit services S 35,000 33,250
© =Tax compliance services 4,675 4,450
L Advisory services 1,025 I.662
- Audit related services 3.000 - 3.000
~ 8. FINANCE INCOME
2021 2020
£ £
Bank interest - 1,275
Interest income on loan notes 21,897 -
Interest accrued on convertible loan notes 162,091 207,213
| 183,988 208,488 |
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9. TAXATION

2021 2020
£ L5

[Droﬁt before tax 4,578,321 803.89I|
- Tax at domeslic income tax rate 869,881 152,739
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 6,026 21,139
Income not taxable (1185.618) (380,639)
Unutilised tax losées 309,71 206,761

[Tax N

The Company has unutilised losses of approximately £9.4m (2020: £7.7m) resulting in a deferred tax asset not recognised of approximately £1.7m
(2020: £1.4m). The losses do not have an expiry date. The Company has not recognised a deferred tax asset in respect of these losses as there is
insufficient evidence of future taxable profits. The Company has not recognised a deferred tax liability in respect of fair value gains on investments
as most asset sales are ;xbecled to be exempt from taxation due to the substantial shareholding exemption (SSE).

i0. EARNINGS PER SHARE
e 2021 2020
' ] £ £
| profit for the purposes of basic and fully diluted prolit per share 4,578,321 803.891]
2021 2020
Number Number
WEIGHTED AVERA'GE NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES
[For calculation of basic earnings per share 339,559,205 290.768.708]
[For calculation of fully diluted earnings per share 342,975,205 290.768.7081
2021 2020
'EARNINGS PER SHARE: _ S -
[Basic earnings per share 1.35 pence 0.30 pence]
[Diluted earnings per share 1:33 pence 0.30 pence)

In 2020 the fully diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic earnings per share as the share options were underwater which would have an

anti-dultive effect on earnings per share.
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11. NON CURRENT ASSETS
INVESTMENTS 2021 2020
. £ £
[Fair value of investments brought forward 21,904,791 17,882,660 |
Interest accrued on convertible loan note 162,091 171,473
Additions | 2,504,185 1,957,248
Disposals ) (199,15) : (99,481)
[Eair_value of investiments carried forWard . 24,371,952 - I9,9Il.90(ﬂ
Fair value adjustment to investmentsl ) 6,240,095 - 1,992,891
[Fair value of investments carried forward; 30,612,047 7 2i.904.79|]
| ' _ Cost Valuation thi'ty ownership
. £000 gooo - %
Wyld Networks AB . 1,788 : 8.746 A 58.7
Device Authority Limited R 8.565 14,686 53.8
INVMA Limited (Konektio) o 1.525 2.189 N 36.8
FVRVS Limited (FundamentalVR)  *. " 2,928 3516 . 26.9
Talking Medicines Limited : 860 1,392 ‘ _ 23.4
Push Technology Limited - 120 23 o <1
| - 15,786 30,612 J

The converiible loan fucilily issued te FVRYS is a financial asset with multiple derivatives ond the entire contract has been designated at FVTPL,
with any movement in fair value taken to profit or loss for the year. In 2021 the value of the convertible loan outstending was £530,000 (2020; nil)

The convertible loan facilities issued to Device Authority, In¥ MA and Wyld Networks were converted into equity during the year with any
movements in fair value taken to profit or loss for the year.
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12. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2021 2020

_ £ £

Trade receivables o 102,959 166,564

Prepayments 63,850 36,753

Interest receivable on converiibte 10an note , 808 35,740

Other receivables . 21,737 22,244
\Total 189,354 261,301 |

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to its fair value.

There is no provision for bad debt. The other clesses within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair votue of the trade, receivebles which all relate to receivables
from our investments. T

13.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2021 2020
| | £ £
{Cash.at bank - 1,957.203 2,130,166

The directots consider that the carrying amount of cash at bank is a reasonablé dpproximation to its feir value.
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i4. ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL

Number of shares Nominal value Share premium
no. R £
'ISSUED AND FULLY PAID_____ _ I ~ ]
[AT 3 DECEMBER 2020 o _ 1
Ordinary shares of £0.0002 330,338,101 66,067
Deferred shares of £29.999 42,247 1.26?.368
Deferred shares of £0.00099 34,545,072 34,200
L 364,925,420 1.367.635. 26,740,789
Ordinary shares issued for cash 21,676,600 4,335 4,031,665
Share issue expenses . - - (225,885)
{ 386,602,020 1,371,970 30,546,569}
AT 31 DECEMBER 2021  * . .
Ordinary shares of £0.0002 352,014,701 , 70,402
Deferred shares of £29.999 42,247 1,267,368
Deferred shares of £0.00099 34,545,072 34,200
| - 386,602,020 1,371,970 30,546,569}
Ordinary Shares . 7 i

The shares have attached to them full voting, dividend and capital distribution (including on winding up) rights. They do not confer any rights

of redemption.

Deferred shares of £29.999

The shares have no voting or dividend rights. There are no capital distribution (including on winding up) rights, other than to receive the nominal

amouni paid on the shares, after the ordinary shareholders have received the sum of £100 per share.

Deferred shares of £0.00099

The shares have no voting or dividend rights. There are no capital distribution (including on winding up) rlghls other than to receive the nominal

amount paid on the shares. The Company has the right to purchase all the shares for £1.

On 13 July 2021, 21,276,600 ordinary shares were issued at 18.8p per share for cash as the result of a private placing raising £4,000,000 before
expenses. On 21 December 2021, 400,000 ordinary shares of 0.02p were issued to a former director of the Compan) on exercise of options at

9p per share.
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15. RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves are set out in the Statement of
Changes in Equity. A description of each reserve is set out below.

Share capital
The amount subscribed for shares at nominal value.

Share premium

This represents the excess of the amount subscribed for share capital
over the nominal value of the respective shares net of share issue
expenses.

Retained earnings
Cumulative profit of the Company.

16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021 2020

£ : S

Trade payables 75,232 _ - 104,066

Accruals and deferred income 217,361 o 138,726

Other taxes and social security 49,462 g 52,809
{Total 342,055 — 295.601]

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to its fair value.

2
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17. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Company classifies its financial instruments in the following
calegories: at fair value through profit or loss or amortised cost.

The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial
instrument was acquired. Management determines the classification
of its financial instruments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this
designation at each financial peried end.

When financial asscts are recognised initially, they are measured
at fair value, being the transaction price plus directly attributable
transaction cosls.

FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (FVTPL)}

Investments

All investments are determined upon initial recognition as held at fair
value through profit or loss. Investment transactions are aceounted for
on & trade date basis. Asset sales are recognised at the trade date of the
disposal. The fair value of the financial instruments in the statement of
financial position is based on the last transaction price at the statement
of financial position date, with no deduction for any estimated future
selling cost. Unguoted investments are valued by the directors using
primary valuation techniques such as recent transactions and last
price. Changes in the fair vatue of investments held of fair value
through profit or loss and gains and losses on disposal are recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income as “movement in fair value
of investments™. Investments are measured at fair value in accordance
with IFRS 9. Details of the valuation technique for each individual
investment is set out in the Financial Review on page 25-26.

The Company determines the fair value of its investments based
on the following hierarchy:

LEYEL 1--Where financial instruments are traded in active
financial markets, fair value is determined by reference to the
appropriate quoted market price at the reporting date. Active
markets are those in which transactions oceur in significant
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an on-
going basis.

LEVEL 2 —If there is no active market, fair value is established
using valuation techniques, including discounted cash How
models. The inputs to these models are taken from observable
market data including recent arm’s length market transactions
and comparisons to the current fair value of similar instruments;
but where this is not fensible, inputs such as liquidity risk, credit
risk and volatility are used.

LEVEL 3 - Valuations in this level are those with inputs that are
not based on observable market data.

The following table shows the levels within the hierarchy of
investments mensured at fair value on a recurring basis ot 31
December 2021 and 31 December 2020:

For Level 3 investments, the fair value assessment was made

by the directors using the price of the shares in the most recent
fundraise, where this was available, as well as an assessment of
market valuations placed on comparable businesses, a review of the
underlying asset values and a review of the sales pipeline and forecast
to support any valuation applied.

Convertible loans provided to investment companies are evaluated
with reference to IFRS 9. The financial asset will be measured and
accounted for at EVTPL. Assels are measured at fair value at each
reporting date, with any movement in fair value taken to profit or loss
for the year. .

31 DECEMBER 202| LEVEL | LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL
finvestments held for trading 8.746.157 — 21,865,890 30,612,047 }
31 DECEMBER 2020 LEVEL | LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL
[Investments held for trading — - 21,904,791 21,904,791 |

See note 11 for more detail.
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I18. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

OPTIONS

The Company operates an equity settled share based remuneration
scheme for directors, employees and advisors. Under the director and
employees’ scheme, options issued during the year were granted to
purchase shares which must be exercised within ten years from the
date of the grant.

The options are capable of exercise on the third anniversary of the
grant date according to the increase in share price on the vesting
date. If at any point prior to the third anniversary of the grant date,
the share price increases by 100%, then 100% of the shares vest
immediately. If there has been no increase in share price by the third
anniversary, then 0% of the shares vest. Between these two points the
options will vest on a straight-line basis.

Under the previous scheme, which is still in place for the non-
executive director and previous directors, shares were granted which
must be exercised within seven years from the date of grant. These
options vest immedistely on issue,

In 2017 share options were issued to a professional adviser as part
of their fees. Under the advisors’ scheme options may be granted
to purchase shares which must be exercised within ten years from
the date of grant. The advisor options are fully vested and the 2015
options have now lapsed.

The Black Scholes method was used to calculate the fair value of the
directer and employees” scheme to calculate the fair value of options
at the date of grant.

A total share based payment charge of £27,456 was recognised in 2021
(2020: £109,455) in respect of the options granted in 2019 and 2020, of
this £(6,732) (2019: £23,987) related to equify settled options issued to
employees. A small adjustment was madé to the employee share based
payment in 2021 due to a slight overcharge in.2020.

The table below lists the inputs o the model used for the options
granted in 2020:

EMPLOYEES

Weighted average share price at date of grant 8.15 pence
Weighted average exercise price 8.15 pence
Expected volatility 100%
vesling period 3
Contractual life 10
Risk free rate 1.94%

The share options held as at 31 December 2021 are set out in the table below:

3 Dmab? % durtng ﬁnre?:::: aurln;:’::c;'sei? mme?:eu ;1:? 3 S:::ﬁ:g:-nz’g: - Tﬁﬂ ' o?::::?::

Directors 7,500,000 - - - 7,500,000 . -8.5p | 18 May 2027
250,000 - - - 250,000 13p | 22 Feb 2023

2,500,000 ' - - - 2,500,000 9.15p 1Dec 2029

ITotal directors_ 10,250,000 _| - - - 10,250,000 _ J
Employees 500,000 - - - 500,000 8.15p |22 July 2030
Other 900,000 - 400,000 - 500,000 9p 15 Feb 2022
100,000 - - - 100,000 8.5p 18 May 2027

[Tolal Options 11,750,000 - 400,000 = 11,350,000 ]

Note: A detailed breakdown of directors’ options is set out in the Report on Directors’ Remuneration,
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19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company considers the following businesses to be related parties and details in
the table below, all related party transactions that took place during the year.

FOR THE PERIOD AS AT 3| DECEMBER-

2021 ' 2020
Sales Purchases Investment Sales  Purchases Investment
£ £ £ £ £ £
"+ Device Authority Limited 24,333 738 - 1,172,511 32,000 - 527,247
Wyld Networks AB - - 451,674 - - -
Wyld Networks Limited 6,450 .- - 31,025 - 445,000
Wyld Technologies Limited 6,000 - - 13,350 - -
" . FVRVS Limited (FundamentalVR) 10,000 ' - 530,000 16,938 - -
" InVMA Limited (Konektio) 12,000 -0 350000 4856 - 125000 .
e _' Talking Medicines Limited 5,000 .- - 30,000 - 860,001

- “Qutstanding trade receivable balances at the year-end are detailed in the table below:

*IAS AT 31 DECEMBER S
E 2021 2020
£ £
" Device Authority Limited 90,959  83.844
» .FVRVS Limited (FundamentalVR) 12,000 -
~.InVMA Limited (Konektio) - 82,720

Equity shareholdings are detailed in Note 11,
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20. CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS

2021 2020
£ £
[Profit for the year 4,578,321 803,891}
"ADJUSTMENTS FOR ITEMS NOT INCLUDED IN CASH FLOW
Movement in fair value of investments (6,240,095) (1,992,891)
Loss on disposal 199,115 -
Deferred cash on sale of investment - 6,060
Share based péyment Ccharge ) - 27456 109.455
Finance income . (183,988) (208,488)
[(_)peraling cash flows before movements in working capitat {1.649,191) (1.28!.973)]
[ADJUSTMENTS FOR CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL _ S 7
Decreasel(iﬁcr’ease) in trade and other receivables' - . 37015 (51,075)
Increase in trade and other payables ' 46,454 143,567
[Cash used in operations (1,535,722) (1,189.481)]

| Excludes interest recéivable from investments.

B'Tern PLC: All Rights Reserved 2022 G8



Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company uses financial instruments, other than derivalives, comprising cash to provide funding for the Company’s operations.

CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The IFRS 9 categories of financial asset included in the Statement of Financial Position and the headings in which they are included are
as follows, all of which are current:

2021 2020
£ £
'FINANCIAL ASSETS ____ _ R ]

Cash at bank 1,957,203 - 2,130,166
Financial instruments at amortised cost

Trade receivables ‘ 102,959 166,564

Other receivables - 21,737 2224
Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)-

Investments - 30612047 - 21,904,791

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES MEASURED AT AMORT[SED COST:
The IFRS 9 categories of financiat liabilities mcluded in lhe Statement of Financial Position and the headings in which they are mcluded are as

follows, all of which are current:

2021 .o 2020

£ ) £
Trade payables ) 75,232 - . 104,066
Accruals . 201,920 125,809

22. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 1 February 2022, it was announced that Talking Medicines Limited had completed a £1.6m equity fundraise at an increased valuation. The
Company’s investment in Talking Medicines is now valued at £1.8m, which included an additional investment of £0.4m by Tern in this round.

On 2 March 2022, it was announced that Tern has agreed to participate in a new venture capital fund, the Sure Valley Ventures UK Software
Technology Fund alongside the British Business Bank and other investors. Tern will initially invest approximately £90,000 and has committed to
invest up to £5m in total over the 10-year life of the fund, which would equate to a ¢.5.9% interest.

23. ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

The directors do not consider there to be a single ultimate controlling party.
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Notice of 2022
Annual General Meeting

Notice of 2022 Annual General Meeting
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the
2022 Annual General Meeting of Tern ple
(*the Company”) will be held at 9.30am
on Wednesday 27 April 2022 at the offices
of Reed Smith, The Broadgate Tower, 20
Primrose Street, London, EC2A 2RS.

COVID-I19 Arrangements

While it is currently anticipated that there will
be no restrictions on social contact or meeting
format at the time of the AGM, shareholders
should carefully consider whether or not it is
appropriate to attend the AGM. The Board -
remains keen to ensure the wellbeing of all
employees and shareholders is protected and
to minimise any public health risks from
public gatherings. Shareholders are strongly
encouraged to exercise their voting riglits by
completing and submitting a Form of Proxy
in advance of the meeting, appointing the-
Chairman of the Annual General Me€ting’
as proxy rather than a named persoh. .
Sharcholders are asked not to a!tend't'hé
AGM if they are displaying any symptoms
of COVID-19, or have recently been in
contact with anyone who has tested positive.
To minimise transmission we encourage.
shareholders to take a rapid lateral flow test.
before attending the meeting, and subject.

1o conditions on the day of the meeting,
shareholders may be required to wear face
masks. '

The Company will continue to closely
monitor the developing impact of COVID-19,
including the latest UK Government guidance.
If a change to Government guidelines is -
announced after the date of this Notice is .
published and such guidelines limit gatherings
and shareholder attendance at the AGM,

any changes to the AGM arrangements

will be notifed to shareholders through the
Company’s website www.ternplc.com and,
where appropriate. by announcement made -
by the Company to a Regulatory Information
Service.

ORDINARY BUSINESS
To consider, and if thought fit, to pass the
following resolutions as ordinary reselutions:

1. To receive and adopt the Company’s annual
accounts for the financial year ended 31
December 2021, together with the Directors’
Report and Auditors’ Report on those
accounts.

2. To re-appoint Nexia Smith & Williamson
as auditors to hold office from the conclusion
of the meeting to the conclusion of the next
meeting at which the accounts are laid
before the Company at 2 remuneration to be
determined by the directors.

3. Sarah Payne retires by rotation, in
accordance with the Articles of Association
of the Company and having consented to be
considered for re-appointment, is hereby re-
appointed as a director of the Company.

4. Alan Howarth retires by rotation, in
accordance with the Articles of Association
of the Company and having consented to be
considered for re-appointment, is hereby re-
appointed as a director of the Company.

SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider, and if thought fit, to pass the
following resolutions, of which resclution §
will be propoesed as an ordinary resolution and
resolutions 6 and 7 will be proposed as special
resolutions:

5. That for the purpose of section 551 of the
Companies Act 2006 (the Act) the directors
of the Company be and are hereby generally
and unconditionally authorised to exercise

all powers of the Company to allot equity
securities (within the meaning of Section

560 of the Act) up to an aggregate nominal
amount of £12,500 provided that this nuthority
shall expire (unless previously renewed,
varied or revoked by the Company in general
meeting) at the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting of the Company, save that

the Company may before such expiry make

an offer or agreement which would or might
require relevant equity securities to be allotted
after such expiry and the board may allot
relevant equity securities in pursuance of
such an offer or agreement as if the authority
conferred hereby had not expired.

This authority is in substitution for all
subsisting suthorities previously conferred upon
the directors for the purposes of section 551 of
the Act, without prejudice to any allotments
made pursuant to the terms of such authorities.

6. That, subject 10 the passing of resolution 5
above, the directors of the Company be and
are hereby empowered pursuant to section 570
of the Act to allot equily securities (within the
meaning of section 560 of the Act) pursuant to
the authority conferred by resolution 5 above
as if section 561 of the Act did not apply to

any such allotment provided that the power
conferred by this resctution shall be limited to:

6.1 the allotment of equity securities for cash

in connection with an issue or offer of equity
securities (including,

without limitation, under a nights issug, open
offer or similar arrangement) to holders of
equily securities in proportion (as nearly as
may be practicable) to their respective holdings
of equity securities subject only to such
exclusions or other arrangements as the board
may consider necessary or expedient to deat
with fractional entitlements or legal or practical
problems under the laws of any territory, or the
requirements of any regulatory body or stock
exchange in any territory; and

6.2 the allotment (otherwise than pursuant
to sub-paragraph 6.! of this resolution (6) of
equity securities up fo an aggregate nominal
value of £10,000.

The power conferred by this resolution 6 shall
expire (unless previously renewed, revoked or
varied by the Company in general meeting), ot
such time as the general authority conferred on
the board by resolution 5 above expires, except
that the Company may at any time before such
expiry make any offer or agreement which
would of might require equity securities to be
allotted after such expiry and the directors of
the Company may allot or sell equity securities
for cash in pursuance of such an offer or
agreement as if the authority conferred hereby
had not expired.

7. That the Company be and is hereby generally
and unconditionally autherised to make market
purchases (within the meaning of section
693(4) of the 2006 Act) of its Ordinary Shares
provided that:

7.1 the maximum number of Ordinary Shares
authorised to be purchased is 10% of the entire
issued share capital of the Company;

1.2 the minimum price which may be paid for
an Ordinary Share is £0.0002;

1.3 the maximum price which may be paid for
an Ordinary Share is an amount equal to 105%
of the average of the middle-market prices
shown in the quotation for an Ordinary Share
as derived from the Stock Exchange Alternative
Trading Service of the Stock Exchange for the
5 business days immediately preceding the day
on which the Ordinary Share is purchased;
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7.4 the authority hereby conferred shall expire
on the earlier of the date falling 15 months
after the Annual General Meeting or on the
conclusion of the next annual general meeting
of the Company to be held in 2023; and

7.5 the Company may make a contract to
purchase its Ordinary Shares under the
authority hereby conferred prior to the expiry
of such autherity, which contract will or may
be executed wholly or partly after the expiry
of such contract.

By Order of the Board
Sarah Payne,

Company Secretary
23 March 2022

NOTES TO THE AGM NOTICE

1. Sharehelders are strongly encouraged to
exercise their voting rights by completing and
submitting a Form of Proxy in advance of

the meeting, appointing the Chairman of the
Annual General Meeting as proxy rather than
a named person.

2, In accordance with Regulation 41 of the
Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001
and by paragraph 18(c) of The Companies Act
{Consequential Amendments) (Uncertificated
Securities) Order 2009, only those members
entered on the Company’s register of members
not later than 9.30am on 25 April 2022, or if
the meeting is adjourned, Shareholders entered
on the Company’s register of members not
later than 2 days before the time fixed for the
adjourned meeting (excluding non-business
days) shall be entitled to attend and vote at the
meeting.

3. A member of the Company entitled to attend
and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint a
proxy (or proxies) to vote in his place. A proxy
need not be a member of the Company. You
can only appoint a proxy using the procedures
set out in these notes and the notes to the Form
of Proxy.

4. To be effective, the Form of Proxy must

be deposited at the office of the Company's
registrars, Share Registrars Limited, Molex
House, The Millennium Centre, Crosby

Way, Farnham, Surrey, GU9 7XX so as to be
received not later than 9.30am on 25 April
2022, or if the meeting is adjourned, not later
than 48 hours before the time fixed for the
adjourned meeting.

5. To change your proxy instructions simply
submit a new proxy appointment using the
methods set out above and in the notes to the
Form of Proxy. Note that the cut-ofT times for
receipt of proxy -appointments (see above) also
apply in relation to amended instructions; any
amended proxy appointment received afler the
relevant cut-offtime will be disregarded.
Where you have"nppointed a proxy and would
like to change the instructions, please contact
the Compuny’§ registrars, Share Registrars
Limited, Molex House, The Millennium
Centre, Crosby Way, Farnham, Surrey,
GU97XX. ~

6. In order to revoke a proxy instruction, you
will need to inform the Company by sending
signed hard copy notice clearly stating your
intention li:o_ reycké 'your proxy appointment

to the Co:ﬁpuny"sire_gislmrs, Share Registrars
Limited, Molex I-Iou.se, The Millenniuvm
Centre, Cro'sby'_ Way, Farnbam, Surrey,

GU9 7XX. In the cose of a member which

is o company, the revocation notice must be
executed under its common seal or signed

on its behal by an officer of the company or
an altorr'\ey‘ for the company. Any power of
attorney of any other authority under which
the revocation notice is signed (or a duly
certified copy of such power or authority) must
be included with'the revocation notice.

In either case, the revocation notice rmust

be received by the Company’s registrars,
Share Registrors Limited, Motex House, The
Miltennium Centre, Crosby Way, Farnham,
Surrey, GU9 7XX no later than 9.30am on 25
April 2022.. -

If you attempt to revoke your proxy
appo_immém but the revocation is received
after the lime specified above, then your proxy
appointment will remain valid,

7. CREST members who wish to appoint

a proxy or proxies by utilising the CREST
electronic proxy appointment service may do
so by utilising the procedures described in the
CREST Manual. CREST Personal Members
or other CREST sponsored members, and
those CREST members who have appointed a
voting service provider(s), should refer to their
CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s),
who will be able to take the appropriate action
on their behealf.

in order for a proxy appointment made by
means of CREST to be valid, the appropriate
CREST message (a "CREST Proxy
Instruction’} must be properly authenticated
in accordance with CRESTCo’s specifications
and must contain the information required
for such instructions, as described in the
CREST Menual. The message, regardless

of whether it relates to the appointment of a
proxy or to an amendment to the instruction
given to a previously appointed proxy must,
in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to

be received by our agent Share Registrars (ID
TRA36) by the latest time(s) for receipt of
proxy appointments specifted in the notice of
meeting. For this purpose, the time of receipt
will be taken to be the time (as determined
by the timestamp applied to the message by
the CREST Applications Host) from which
the issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the
message by enquiry to CREST in the manner
prescribed by CREST. The Company may
treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in
the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)
(8) of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations’
2001. CoT

CREST members and, where applicable, their
CREST sponsors or voting service providers
should note that CRESTCo does not make
available special procedures in CREST for any
particular messages. Normal system timings
and limitations will therefore apply in relation
to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It
is the responsibility of the CREST member
concerned to take (or, if the CREST member
is a CREST personal member or sponsored
member or has appointed a voting Service
provider(s), to procure that his CREST sponsor
or voting service provider(s) take(s)) 's'm_:h'
action as shall be necessary to ensure that

a message is transmitted by means of the
CREST system by any particular time. In

this connection, CREST members and, where
applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting
service providers are referred, in particular,

to those sections of the CREST Manual
concerning practical limitations of the CREST
system and timings.
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